
 

 

 
 

Cherwell District Council, Bodicote House, Bodicote, Banbury, Oxfordshire, OX15 4AA 
www.cherwell.gov.uk 

 

 
Committee: Planning Committee 
 

Date:  Thursday 11 January 2024 
 

Time: 4.00 pm 
 
Venue Bodicote House, Bodicote, Banbury, Oxon OX15 4AA 
 
Membership 
 

Councillor George Reynolds 
(Chairman) 

Councillor Maurice Billington (Vice-
Chairman) 

Councillor Andrew Beere Councillor Rebecca Biegel 
Councillor John Broad Councillor Phil Chapman 
Councillor Becky Clarke MBE Councillor Jean Conway 
Councillor Ian Harwood Councillor Simon Holland 
Councillor Fiona Mawson Councillor Lesley McLean 
Councillor Julian Nedelcu Councillor Lynn Pratt 
Councillor Les Sibley Councillor Nigel Simpson 
Councillor Amanda Watkins Councillor Barry Wood 

 
Substitutes 
 

Councillor Sandy Dallimore Councillor John Donaldson 
Councillor David Hingley Councillor Matt Hodgson 
Councillor Harry Knight Councillor Andrew McHugh 
Councillor Ian Middleton Councillor Dan Sames 
Councillor Dorothy Walker Councillor Douglas Webb 
Councillor Bryn Williams Councillor Sean Woodcock 

 

AGENDA 
 

1. Apologies for Absence and Notification of Substitute Members      
 
 

2. Declarations of Interest      
 
Members are asked to declare any interest and the nature of that interest which 
they may have in any of the items under consideration at this meeting 
 
 

3. Requests to Address the Meeting      
 

Public Document Pack

http://www.cherwell.gov.uk/


The Chairman to report on any requests to address the meeting. 
 
Please note that the deadline for requests to address the meeting is noon on the 
working day before the meeting. Addresses can be made virtually or in person.  
 
 

4. Minutes  (Pages 5 - 23)    
 
To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 
7 December 2023. 
 
 

5. Chairman's Announcements      
 
To receive communications from the Chairman. 
 
 

6. Urgent Business      
 
The Chairman to advise whether they have agreed to any item of urgent business 
being admitted to the agenda. 
 
 

7. Proposed Pre-Committee Site Visits (if any)      
 
The Committee to consider requests for and proposed pre-committee site visits.  
 
Any requests or recommendations for site visits will be published with the written 
update.  
 
 

Planning Applications 
 

8. Former Pakefield House to Fortescue House, St. John's Street, Bicester, OX26 
6SL  (Pages 26 - 53)   23/01771/F 
 
 

Review and Monitoring Reports 
 

9. Appeals Progress Report  (Pages 54 - 66)    
 
Report of Assistant Director Planning and Development 
 
Purpose of report 
 
To keep Members informed about planning appeal progress including decisions 
received and the scheduling of public inquiries and hearings for new and current 
appeals.  
 
Recommendations 
 
The meeting is recommended: 
 
1.1 To note the position on planning appeals contained within the report. 



 
 

 

Councillors are requested to collect any post from their pigeon 
hole in the Members Room at the end of the meeting. 

 

Information about this Agenda 
 
Apologies for Absence  
Apologies for absence should be notified to democracy@cherwell-dc.gov.uk or 01295 
221534 prior to the start of the meeting. 
 
Declarations of Interest 
Members are asked to declare interests at item 2 on the agenda or if arriving after the 
start of the meeting, at the start of the relevant agenda item.  
 
Local Government and Finance Act 1992 – Budget Setting, Contracts & 
Supplementary Estimates 
Members are reminded that any member who is two months in arrears with Council Tax 
must declare the fact and may speak but not vote on any decision which involves budget 
setting, extending or agreeing contracts or incurring expenditure not provided for in the 
agreed budget for a given year and could affect calculations on the level of Council Tax. 
 
Evacuation Procedure 
When the continuous alarm sounds you must evacuate the building by the nearest 
available fire exit.  Members and visitors should proceed to the car park as directed by 
Democratic Services staff and await further instructions.  
 
Access to Meetings 
If you have any special requirements (such as a large print version of these papers or 
special access facilities) please contact the officer named below, giving as much notice as 
possible before the meeting. 
 
Mobile Phones 
Please ensure that any device is switched to silent operation or switched off. 
 
Webcasting and Broadcasting Notice 
The meeting will be recorded by the council for live and/or subsequent broadcast on the 
council’s website. The whole of the meeting will be recorded, except when confidential or 
exempt items are being considered. The webcast will be retained on the website for 6 
months.  
 
If you make a representation to the meeting, you will be deemed by the council to have 
consented to being recorded. By entering the Council Chamber, you are consenting to 
being recorded and to the possible use of those images for and sound recordings for 
webcasting and/or training purposes.  
 
The council is obliged, by law, to allow members of the public to take photographs, film, 
audio-record, and report on proceedings. The council will only seek to prevent this should 
it be undertaken in a disruptive or otherwise inappropriate manner. 
 
Queries Regarding this Agenda 
Please contact Aaron Hetherington / Matt Swinford, Democratic and Elections 
democracy@cherwell-dc.gov.uk, 01295 221534  
 

mailto:democracy@cherwellandsouthnorthants.gov.uk


 
Yvonne Rees 
Chief Executive 
 
Published on Wednesday 3 January 2024 
 

 
 
 
 
 



Cherwell District Council 
 

Planning Committee 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Planning Committee held at Bodicote House, 
Bodicote, Banbury, Oxon OX15 4AA, on 7 December 2023 at 4.00 pm 
 
Present: 
 
Councillor George Reynolds (Chairman)  
Councillor Andrew Beere 
Councillor Rebecca Biegel 
Councillor John Broad 
Councillor Jean Conway 
Councillor Ian Harwood 
Councillor Simon Holland 
Councillor Fiona Mawson 
Councillor Lesley McLean 
Councillor Julian Nedelcu 
Councillor Les Sibley 
Councillor Nigel Simpson 
Councillor Amanda Watkins 
Councillor Barry Wood 
 
 
Substitute Members: 
 
Councillor Matt Hodgson (In place of Councillor Becky Clarke MBE) 
Councillor Douglas Webb (In place of Councillor Lynn Pratt) 
 
 
Apologies for absence: 
 
Councillor Maurice Billington (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Phil Chapman 
Councillor Becky Clarke MBE 
Councillor Lynn Pratt 
 
 
Also Present: 
 
Councillor Kieron Mallon (Speaking as Ward Member for agenda item 11) 
 
 
Officers:  
 
Caroline Ford, Team Leader - South Area Major Developments 
Nat Stock, Team Leader - North Area General Developments 
Jeanette Davey, Principal Planning Officer 
David Mytton, Solicitor 
Natasha Clark, Governance and Elections Manager 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



Planning Committee - 7 December 2023 

  

Matt Swinford, Democratic and Elections Officer 
Patrick Davis, Democratic and Elections Officer 
 
 
Officers Attending Virtually: 
 
Ian Boll, Corporate Director Communities 
 
 

81 Declarations of Interest  
 
8. Land North Of 66 And Adjacent Water Eaton Lane Gosford. 
Councillor Lesley McLean, Other Registerable Interest, as a member of 
Kidlington Parish Council which had been consulted on the application. 
 
9. Land West of Oxford Close and North of Corner Farm, Station Road, 
Kirtlington. 
Councillor Jean Conway, Declaration, advised Committee that they had made 
objections to the Mid-Cherwell Neighbourhood plan process and owned land 
within Kirtlington however advised she had no conflicts of interest. 
 
Councillor Jean Conway, Other Registerable Interest, as Chair of Kirtlington 
Parish Council which had been consulted on the application. 
 
10. OS Parcel 0622 South of Jersey Cottages and East of Heyford Road, 
Kirtlington. 
Councillor Jean Conway, Other Registerable Interest, as Chair of Kirtlington 
Parish Council which had been consulted on the application. 
 
Councillor Jean Conway, Declaration, advised Committee that they had made 
objections to the Mid-Cherwell Neighbourhood plan process and owned land 
within Kirtlington however advised she had no conflicts of interest. 
 
Councillor Simon Holland, Declaration, advised the Committee that a friend 
owned the property and would leave the meeting for the duration of the item. 
 
11. 1 Elizabeth Rise Banbury OX16 9LZ. 
Councillor Andrew Beere, Other Registerable Interest, as a member of 
Banbury Town Council which had been consulted on the application. 
 
Councillor Matt Hodgson, Other Registerable Interest, as a member of 
Banbury Town Council which had been consulted on the application. 
 
Councillor Rebecca Biegel, Other Registerable Interest, as a member of 
Banbury Town Council which had been consulted on the application. 
 
 

82 Requests to Address the Meeting  
 
The Chairman advised that requests to address the meeting would be dealt 
with at each item. 

Page 6



Planning Committee - 7 December 2023 

  

 
 

83 Minutes  
 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 2 November 2023 were agreed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 
 

84 Chairman's Announcements  
 
The Chairman made the following announcement: 
 
1. Advised members of the public attending the meeting that only registered 

speakers may address the Committee and requested that they did not 
cause a disturbance. 

 
 

85 Urgent Business  
 
There were no items of urgent business.  
 
 

86 Proposed Pre-Committee Site Visits (if any)  
 
There were no proposed Pre-Committee site visits. 
 
 

87 Land North Of 66 And Adjacent Water Eaton Lane Gosford  
 
The Committee considered application 22/03883/F, for the development of 96 
dwellings (50% affordable housing), an extension to Bicester Road Cemetery 
with associated access (from Bicester Road), open space, landscaping and 
infrastructure at Land North Of 66 And Adjacent Water Eaton Lane Gosford 
for Hill Residential Ltd. 
 
Glyn Mutton, on behalf of the applicant, Hill Residential Limited, addressed 
the Committee in support of the application. 
 
In reaching its decision the Committee considered the officers’ report, 
presentation, addresses from the public speaker and the written updates. 
 
Resolved 
 
That, in line with the officer’s recommendation, application 22/03883/F be 
delegated to the Assistant Director for Planning and Development to approve 
subject to: 
 

i. The resolution of the Environment Agency objection to the 
satisfaction of the Assistant Director; 

ii. The expiry of the consultation period to grant permission; 

Page 7



Planning Committee - 7 December 2023 

  

iii. The conditions set out below (and any amendments to those 
conditions as deemed necessary) and; 

iv. The completion of a Planning Obligation under section 106 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as substituted by the 
Planning and Compensation Act 1991, to secure the heads of terms 
as set out in the annex to the Minutes, as set out in the Minute book 
(and any amendments deemed necessary). 
 
a.  Provision of 50% affordable housing on site 
b. On site green space and recreational routes and appropriate 

maintenance contribution/arrangements including proportionate 
contributions towards the formal provision provided as part of 
the southern half of the PR7a allocation.  

c. Payment of a financial contribution towards proportionate 
highway contributions as set out in Appendix 4 of the Partial 
Review Local Plan.  

d. Payment of a financial contribution towards Community Hall and 
Development, Outdoor and indoor sport contributions or 
facilitating the delivery on the southern half of the PR7a 
allocation  

e. Payment of a financial contribution towards Healthcare   
f. Payment of a financial contribution towards Education   
g. Payment of a financial contribution towards Library Services 
h. Payment of a financial contribution towards Police  
i. Appropriate arrangements for Open Space Management   
j. Appropriate arrangements for the delivery and transfer of the 

cemetery extension to Kidlington Parish Council.  
k. Payment of the Council’s monitoring costs of £5,000 plus OCC 

Monitoring Costs  
l. For completeness - a controlled parking zone (CPZ) or other 

such controls should not be included in the s106 unless deemed 
by the Local Planning Authority to meet the legal tests for 
inclusion in a s106 Agreement 

m. The securing of the requirement for the applicant to submit a 
scheme to secure a private scheme of resident parking to deter 
commuter parking within the development to mirror the 
operation of a CPZ prior to the formal TRO process. 

 
Conditions 
 

Time Limit 
 

1. The development to which this permission relates shall be begun not 
later than the expiration of three years beginning with the date of this 
permission. 

 
Reason - To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
Compliance with Plans 

Page 8



Planning Committee - 7 December 2023 

  

 
2. Except where otherwise stipulated by conditions attached to this 

permission, the development shall be carried out strictly in accordance 
with the following plans and documents:  
Site Location Plan - 141 PS 110 
Topographical Survey - A524/99991/1 Rev A 
Proposed Site Plan - 141-PS-100 Rev U 
Illustrative Landscape Masterplan - 22027-GUA-DR-L-001 Rev P10 
Outline Soft Landscape Proposals - 22027-GUA-DR-L-002 Rev P08 
Outline Hard Landscape Proposals - 22027-GUA-DR-L-003 Rev P07 
Outline Boundary Treatment Plan - 22027-GUA-DR-L-005 Rev P06 
Plant Schedule and Outline Specification - 22027-GUA-DR-L-006 Rev 
P04 
3D View - Bicester Road - 141-PS-601 Rev D 
3D View - Open Space - 141-PS-602 Rev B 
3D View - SUDs Features - 141-PS-603 Rev B 
Central Parking Court View - 141-PS-605 Rev B  
Primary Route View - 141-PS-606 Rev B 
Cycle Route (North) - 141-PS-607 Rev A 
Cycle Route (South) - 141-PS-608 Rev A 
Northern Amenity Space - 141-PS-609 Rev A 
Streetscenes J-J - 141-511 Rev A 
Streetscenes K-K - 141-512 Rev A  
Housetype 5B9P-1 - M4(3) Adaptable- 141-MC-5B9P-1-M4(3) 
Housetype 3B6P-1 - 141-AC-3B6P-1-Semi-2 Rev B 
Housetype 3B6P-1 - 141-AC-3B6P-1-Semi-1 Rev B  
Housetype 3B6P-1 - 141-AC-3B6P-1-Semi-2 Rev A 
Housetype 4B8P-1 - 141-AC-4B8P-1-1 Rev E 
Housetype 4B8P-1 - 141-AC-4B8P-1-2 Rev D  
Housetype 4B8P-1 Corner - 141-AC-4B8P-1-Corner Rev E 
Housetype 2B4P-2 - 141-AFF-2B4P-2-Semi-1 Rev B 
Housetype 2B4P-2 - 141-AFF-2B4P-2-Semi-2 Rev C 
Housetype 2B4P-1 - 141-AC-2B4P-1-Semi-1 Rev B 
Housetype 2B4P-1 - 141-AC-2B4P-1-Semi-2 Rev B 
Housetype 2B4P-1 - 141-AC-2B4P-1-Terrace-1 Rev D 
Housetype 2B4P-1 - 141-AC-2B4P-1-Terrace-2 Rev E 
Housetype 3B6P-1 - 141-AC-3B6P-1-Det-1 Rev B 
Housetype 3B6P-1 - 141-AC-3B6P-1-Det-2 Rev B 
Housetype 5B9P-1 - 141-MC-5B9P-1 Rev E 
Housetype 5B9P-1 - M4(3) Adaptable - 141-MC-5B9P-1-M4(3) Rev B 
Housetype 5B9P-1 - 141-MC-5B9P-1-Vista Rev C 
Housetype 3B-5P-1 - 141-BS-3B-5P-Det-Corner Rev B 
Housetype 3B-5P-1 - 141-BS-3B-5P-Det-Vista Rev B 
Housetype 3B5P-1 - 3B6P-1 - 141-BS-3B-5P-MT Rev B 
Housetype 3B-5P-1 - 141-BS-3B-5P-Semi-1 Rev B  
Housetype 3B-5P-1 - 141-BS-3B-5P-Semi-Vista Rev B 
Housetype 3B6P-1-4B7P-1 - 141-BS-AFF-3B6P-1-AFF-4B-7P Rev D 
Housetype 3B6P-1 - 141-BS-AFF-3B6P-1-C Rev D 
Housetype 3B6P-1 Semi - 141-BS-AFF-3B6P-1-S Rev B 
Housetype 3B6P-1 Semi 2 - 141-BS-AFF-3B6P-1-S2 Rev B 
Housetype 3B6P-1 Terrace - 141-BS-AFF-3B6P-1-T Rev D 

Page 9



Planning Committee - 7 December 2023 

  

Housetype - 4B7P-1 - 141-BS-AFF-4B7P-1 Rev A 
Apartment 02 Elevations - 141-APT-02-E Rev G 
Apartment 02 Plans - 141-APT-02-P Rev F 
Apartment 01 Elevations - 141-APT-01-E Rev H 
Apartment 01 Plans - 141-APT-01-P Rev H 
Bike Store Apartment - 141-Bike Store 01 Rev C 
Bin Store 01 - 141-Bin Store 01 Rev B 
Bin Store 02 - 141-Bin Store 01 Rev D 
Detached Double Garage - 141-Double Garage 
Electric Substation - 141-Electric Substation Rev B 
Detached Twin Garage - 141-Twin Garage 
Detached Single Garage - 141-Single Garage 

 
Documents: 
Design and Access Statement (September 2023) 
Energy Statement (December 2022) 
Service Supply Statement (ref. 10869 SS01 Rv0)  
Planning Statement (December 2022) 
Health Impact Assessment (November 2022) 
Travel Plan (rev C) 
Transport Statement (rev C) and Addendum (September 2023) 
Land Management & Maintenance Plan (ref. 22027-GUA-DOC-L-001 
rev P02) 
Landscape & Visual Appraisal (ref. 22027-GUA-DOC-L-001 rev P05) 
Social Value Delivery Plan (rev 1) 
Written Scheme of Investigation for a Geophysical Survey (April 2023) 
Flood Risk Assessment / Drainage Strategy (rev C) and Addendum 
(September 2023) 
Air Quality Assessment (ref. H3115 – AQ – v2) 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment (ref. EAS-143 V2) 
Phase 1 Environmental Report (ref. CRM.1027.052.GE.R.001) 
Biodiversity Net Gain Design State Report (December 2022) 
Ecology Assessment (rev 1.1) 
Geo-Environmental Report (ref. CRM.1027.132.GE.R.001.A) 
Geophysical Survey Report (07 March 2023) 
Kidlington Cemetery Groundwater Risk Assessment (ref. CRM.1027.052 
GE.R.002A T1/T2 GRA) 
Drainage Strategy (ref. 517-P-010-C) 
Noise Assessment (ref. H3115 – NV – v4) 
Plant Schedule and Outline Specification (ref. 20027-GUA-DR-006-P04) 

 
Reason – For the avoidance of doubt, to ensure that the development is 
carried out only as approved by the Local Planning Authority and to 
comply with Government guidance contained within the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
CEMP 

 
3. No development shall take place until a Construction and Environmental 

Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall include the following: 

Page 10



Planning Committee - 7 December 2023 

  

 
i) Implementation of air quality and dust suppression management 
measures through a Dust Management Plan;  

 
ii) Working hours and construction traffic delivery times;  

 
iii) The protection of the environment and implement best practice 
guidelines for works within or near water and habitats, including the 
appointment of a qualified ecologist to advise on site clearance and 
construction, in particular any works that have the potential to disturb 
notable ecological features  

 
iv) Measures to minimise energy requirements and emissions from 
equipment and plant (including minimising the use of diesel or petrol 
powered generators and instead using mains electricity or battery 
powered equipment; powering down of equipment / plant during periods 
of non-utilisation; optimising vehicle utilisation; use of energy efficient 
lighting)  

 
v) A Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) and traffic routing, 
temporary access and haul roads to ensure construction vehicles, 
materials and logistics saving measures are managed  

 
vi) Measures to minimise greenhouse gas emissions associated with the 
production of waste including the reuse and recovery of materials where 
possible, avoid excavation waste, management of water and water 
resources, the reuse and/or recycling of construction waste on-site in 
subsequent stages of the development.  

 
vii) Measures to reduce the impact on neighbouring and nearby 
residents and associated temporary fencing, lighting and construction 
compounds and activity through the operational phase of development  

 
viii) Details of site management including a method for creation of 
logging of visitors and contractors on site, the monitoring incidents and 
complaints), including monitoring and reporting (including site 
inspections, soiling checks, compliance with Dust Management plan, 
etc) and, where appropriate, CCTV and tracking of contractor vehicles to 
ensure appropriate routing of vehicles 

 
The development shall be constructed in accordance with the agreed 
Construction and Environmental Management Plan.  

 
 Reason: To manage construction process and to ensure that the impacts 

to soils, air quality, contamination and ground conditions, ecological 
habitats, cultural heritage, noise and vibration, heritage assets, transport 
and waste as well as neighbouring and nearby residents and climate 
impacts are managed in accordance with the mitigation outlined in the 
application submission and Policies ESD3, ESD15 and INF1 of the 
Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 and saved policies ENV1 and ENV12 of 
the Cherwell Local Plan 1996 and the aims and objectives of the NPPF.  

Page 11



Planning Committee - 7 December 2023 

  

 
LEMP 

 
4. Notwithstanding the submitted Land Management & Maintenance Plan 

(ref. 22027-GUA-DOC-L-001 rev P02), prior to first occupation of the 
development hereby approved, a Landscape and Ecology Management 
Plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Thereafter, the LEMP shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.  

 
Reason: To protect habitats of importance to biodiversity conservation 
from any loss or damage in accordance with Policy ESD10 of the 
Cherwell Local Plan 2011 – 2031 Part 1 and Government guidance 
contained within Section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
Ground conditions 

 
5. If, during remediation or construction works, any additional or 

unexpected contamination is identified, then remediation proposals for 
this material should be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
before any works proceed and shall be fully implemented prior to first 
occupation of the dwellings hereby approved. 

 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users 
of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that 
the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to 
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with 
saved Policies ENV1 and ENV12 of the Cherwell Local Plan 1996. 

 
Access onto Bicester Road  

6. No development shall take place until details of the means of access 
(shown on Proposed Site Plan - 141-PS-100 Rev U) between the land 
and the highway, including, sections, drainage and layout have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The means of access shall be constructed in strict accordance with the 
approved details and shall be retained and maintained as such 
thereafter.  

Reason - In the interests of highway safety and to comply with Policies 
PR1, PR4a, PR7a and PR12a of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 
Part 1 (Partial Review) and Policies SLE4 and ESD15 of the Cherwell 
Local Plan 2011-2031 Part 1 and Government guidance contained within 
the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
Archaeology  

 
7. No development shall take place until (other than in accordance with the 

agreed and submitted Written Scheme of Investigation: Written Scheme 
of Investigation for an Archaeological Evaluation on the Gosford Site, 
Bicester Road Pre Construct Archaeology 2023), a staged programme of 

Page 12



Planning Committee - 7 December 2023 

  

archaeological evaluation and mitigation has been carried out by the 
commissioned archaeological organisation in accordance with the 
approved Written Scheme of Investigation. The programme of work shall 
include all processing, research and analysis necessary to produce an 
accessible and useable archive and a full report for publication which 
shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority within two years of the 
completion of the archaeological fieldwork. 

 
Reason – To safeguard the identification, recording, analysis and 
archiving of heritage assets before they are lost and to advance 
understanding of the heritage assets in their wider context through 
publication and dissemination of the evidence in accordance with the 
NPPF (2023). 
 
Drainage and Water  
 

8. i) No development shall take place until a detailed surface water 
strategy, water supply and foul drainage plans to demonstrate how the 
management of water within the approved development accords with the 
overarching Drainage Strategy (ref 517-P-010 Rev C) and the approved 
Flood Risk Assessment and associated documents has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
ii) The submitted strategy shall include details of all flow control systems 
and the design, location and capacity of all strategic SuDS features and 
shall include ownership, long-term adoption, management and 
maintenance schemes and monitoring arrangements/responsibilities. 
The strategy should also demonstrate that the exceedance of the 
designed system has been considered through the provision of overland 
flow routes. 
 
iii) The development shall be carried out in full accordance with the 
approved detailed surface water strategy, water supply and foul drainage 
plans and no building shall be occupied or used until such time as the 
approved detailed measures serving that building have been fully 
completed in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: In order to reduce the risk of flooding, to ensure adequate flood 
control, maintenance and efficient use and management of water within 
the site, to ensure the quality of the water entering receiving water 
courses is appropriate and monitored and to promote the use of 
sustainable urban drainage systems to limit the volume and rate of water 
leaving the site and to ensure new environments and habitats are 
formed across the site. In accordance with Policies ESD6, ESD7, ESD8 
and ESD10 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011 – 2031 Part 1 and 
Government guidance contained within the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 
Materials  
 

9. A schedule of materials and finishes including samples (in a panel where 

Page 13



Planning Committee - 7 December 2023 

  

relevant) to be used in the external walls and roof(s) of the dwellings 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to works above ground level. The development shall 
thereafter be completed in accordance with the approved details.  

 
Reason: To ensure that the materials are appropriate to the appearance 
of the locality and to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the 
completed development in accordance with Policy ESD15 of the 
Cherwell Local Plan 2011 – 2031 Part 1, Saved Policy C28 of the 
Cherwell Local Plan 1996 and Government guidance contained within 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
Landscaping  
 

10. No development shall take place until a detailed scheme of hard and soft 
landscaping works based on the submitted landscape masterplan and 
the approved plans (reference Outline Soft Landscape Proposals - 
22027-GUA-DR-L-002 Rev P08 and Outline Hard Landscape Proposals 
- 22027-GUA-DR-L-003 Rev P07) has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These details will include the 
following: 

 
- Identification of existing trees, shrubs and other vegetation to be 
retained including details of tree protection fencing to protect them 
during the construction process 
- Wildlife habitat creation of potential benefit to protected species. The 
extent, location and design of such habitat shall be shown clearly and 
fully described. 
- The creation of a visually attractive and stimulating environment for the 
occupiers of the future development, and other users of the site. 
- The eradication of Japanese knotweed or other invasive species on the 
site, if applicable. 
- The replacement of trees proposed to be lost in site clearance works. 
- Details of the future management of the landscape scheme. 
- Ground preparation measures to be adopted. 
- Full botanical details, numbers, locations, planting specifications and 
densities/ seeding rates of all plant material included within the 
landscape scheme. 
- Existing and proposed levels. 
- Programme for delivery of the approved scheme 
 

The approved scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the 
relevant approved programme for delivery forming part thereof and shall 
be managed for at least 5 years from the completion of the relevant 
scheme, in accordance with the approved management details. 
 

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, 
provide appropriate landscaping and protect wildlife in accordance with 
Policies PR5 and PR7a of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 (Partial 
Review), Policies ESD10, ESD13 and ESD15 of the Cherwell Local Plan 

Page 14



Planning Committee - 7 December 2023 

  

2011 – 2031 Part 1 and Government guidance contained within the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
Ecological Enhancement 

 
11. a) Prior to above slab level works, details of Ecological Enhancement to 

achieve the submitted Biodiversity Matrix which indicates that the 
proposals would achieve at least 12.36% habitat enhancement and 
37.24% hedgerow improvement. Details shall include: 

 
- Species-rich meadow grassland should be incorporated where possible 

into areas of public open space and wildflower meadow planting 
- New native and species rich in the soft landscaping scheme to mitigate 

for hedgerow loss. 
- Any SuDS features proposed should be engineered to retain an area of 

standing water and planted with marginal plant species 
- Bat and bird boxes are recommended to be integrated into the walls of 

the residential properties including swift boxes and/or may be 
installed on mature trees within hedgerows or along the woodland 
edge  

- A small bug hotel to a tree with a hedgerow or along the woodland 
edge to the eastern edge. 

- Log and brash piles in appropriate locations 
- Any fencing that is to be installed should include gaps to allow for easy 

movement of hedgehogs. 
- A timescale for implementation and management to be not later than 

final occupation of the development.  
 
b)  The approved scheme shall be implemented in accordance with 

the relevant approved programme for delivery forming part thereof 
and shall be managed for at least 5 years from the completion of 
the relevant scheme, in accordance with the approved 
management details. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the development delivers the approved 
level of biodiversity net gain and appropriate landscaping and 
wildlife enhancement in accordance with Policies PR5 and PR7a of 
the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 (Partial Review), Policies 
ESD10, ESD13 and ESD15 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011 – 
2031 Part 1 and Government guidance contained within the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

LAPs and Informal Play 
 

12. a) Prior to first occupation of the development details of Local Areas of 
Play (LAPs) or any other areas of informal play shall be submitted to and 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted 
information shall include details of site levels, play features, seating, 
pathways, planting and landscaping relating to that LAP or other area of 
informal play and a strategy for their implementation and management.  
 

Page 15



Planning Committee - 7 December 2023 

  

b) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the relevant 
agreed details and retained thereafter 
 
c) Any trees or planting which form part of an agreed scheme pursuant 
to this condition and which should die or require replacement within the 
first 5 years after completion of the scheme shall be replaced as soon as 
practicable in the first available planting season.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the proposals deliver an appropriate amount and 
variety of recreational opportunities for all ages in accordance with the 
submitted outline application and in accordance with Policies PR5 and 
PR7a of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 (Partial Review), Policies 
BSC10, BSC11, ESD6, ESD7, ESD15 and ESD17 of the Cherwell Local 
Plan 2011-2031 and saved policies C28 and C30 of the Cherwell Local 
Plan 1996 and the aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
Street furniture 

 
13. a) Prior to above ground works details of street furniture including 

seating, refuse bins and dog bins and bollards to cycleway access points 
shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details prior to first occupation of the development or an 
alternative agreed timescale.  

 
Reason: To ensure that the proposals deliver appropriate levels of 
seating, communal bins for recreational purposes and manage access to 
cycleways and functioning of the development to provide an amount and 
variety of recreational opportunities for all ages in accordance with the 
submitted outline application and in accordance with Policies PR5 and 
PR7a of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 (Partial Review), Policies 
BSC10, BSC11, ESD6, ESD7, ESD15 and ESD17 of the Cherwell Local 
Plan 2011-2031 and saved policies C28 and C30 of the Cherwell Local 
Plan 1996 and the aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 
Lighting Strategy 
 

14. No occupation shall take place until a detailed lighting strategy has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. The details to be submitted shall include:  

 
i) Lighting for play  
ii) Lighting for public realm and walking and cycling routes  
iii) Areas of ecological areas where lighting will be prohibited.  
iv) A strategy for roads and communal parking   
v) A strategy for mitigation to reduce light pollution during construction.  
 

Page 16



Planning Committee - 7 December 2023 

  

Reason: To minimise light pollution from the construction and 
operational phase of development and to ensure that the proposals are 
in accordance Policies PR3, PR5 and PR7a of the Cherwell Local Plan 
2011-2031 (Partial Review), Policies BSC10, BSC11, ESD13, ESD15 
and ESD17 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 and saved policies 
C28 and C30 of the Cherwell Local Plan 1996 and the aims and 
objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Fibre Optic Infrastructure  
 

15. a) Prior to their installation details of fibre optic infrastructure shall be 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority to 
demonstrate the completion of infrastructure to facilitate the provision of 
fibre optic cable to each dwelling upon the completion of the 
infrastructure. 

 
b) The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the agreed 
timescales and retained thereafter.  
 
Reason: To provide appropriate and sustainable infrastructure for high 
speed internet connection in accordance with Policies PR7a, PR11 and 
PR12 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 Part 1 (Partial Review) and 
the aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Residential Travel Plan and Information Pack 
 

16. Prior to first occupation a Residential Travel Plan and Travel Information 
Pack shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The Travel Plan is to be updated on occupation of 50% of the 
site (48th dwelling). The development shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved Travel Plan including the updated version 
as relevant.  

 
Reason: To promote sustainable modes of transport in accordance with 
Policies PR4a and PR7a of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 Part 1 
(Partial Review) and the aims and objectives of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
PD Removal (extensions and outbuildings) 

 
17. Notwithstanding the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) Order 2015 (as amended) or succeeding and replacement 
legislation no works or additions under Schedule 2 Part 1 or Part 2 shall 
be carried out relating to any of the dwellings hereby approved or within 
their curtilage without prior express consent of the Local Planning 
Authority.  

 
Reason: Having regard to the nature of the properties and the designs 
and the associated intimate relationship to which extensions within a 
permitted development remit may compromise and having regard to 

Page 17



Planning Committee - 7 December 2023 

  

Development Plan Policies and guidance contained within the National 
Planning Policy Framework as a whole. 

 
Parking and Turning areas  
 

18. All parking and manoeuvring areas identified on the approved plans set 
out in Condition 2 shall be implemented prior to the first occupation of 
the relevant part of the approved development. Once implemented all 
parking, turning areas and garages shall remain for use of parking and 
manoeuvring of vehicles and shall not be used for alternative uses.  

 
Reason - To ensure satisfactory functioning of the application site in 
accordance with Development Plan Policies and guidance contained 
within the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
EV Charging Points  
 

19. No development above slab level shall take place until details of EV 
charging points have been submitted to and agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The agreed details shall be implemented prior 
to the occupation of the relevant dwelling and shall be retained 
thereafter.  

 
Reason - To ensure satisfactory access to the site for future residents 
and users of the development in accordance with Development Plan 
Policies and guidance contained within the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 
Details of solar panels  

 
20. Notwithstanding the submitted details, no development above slab level 

shall take place until details of solar panels have been submitted to and 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The agreed details 
shall be implemented prior to the occupation of the relevant dwelling and 
shall be retained thereafter.  

 
Reason - To ensure the development provides appropriate climate 
change mitigation for future residents and users of the development in 
accordance with Development Plan Policies and guidance contained 
within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
Noise Mitigation 
 

21. Prior to development above slab level a scheme to soundproof the 
affected dwellings against traffic noise shall be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority to achieve an internal level in 
all sleeping areas of 30dB LAeq 1 hour and 45 dB L A max between 
2300 hours and 0700 hours with windows shut and other means of 
ventilation provided. An internal level of 40dB LAeq 1 hour shall be 
achieved in all other areas of the building. All works that form part of the 
scheme shall be completed prior to occupation of the dwellings. The 

Page 18



Planning Committee - 7 December 2023 

  

development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details prior to the occupation of the relevant dwelling.  

 
Reason - To ensure the development provides appropriate residential 
environment for future residents of the development in accordance with 
Development Plan Policies and guidance contained within the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 

88 Land West of Oxford Close and North of Corner Farm, Station Road, 
Kirtlington  
 
The Committee considered application 23/02338/OUT, an outline application 
for the erection of 15 detached and semi-detached single and two-storey 
dwellings (including affordable housing) together with means of access - re-
submission of 22/03049/OUT for Manorwood Consultancy Ltd at Land West 
of Oxford Close and North of Corner Farm, Station Road, Kirtlington. 
 
Christine Marsh, on behalf of Kirtlington Parish Council and the Mid-Cherwell 
Neighbourhood Plan Forum, addressed the Committee in objection to the 
application. 
 
Jake Collinge, on behalf of the agent for the applicant, JCPC Ltd, addressed 
the Committee in support of the application. 
 
In reaching its decision the Committee considered the officers’ report, 
presentation, addresses from the public speakers and the written updates. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Wood and seconded by Councillor Reynolds 
that application, 23/02338/OUT be refused, contrary to the officer’s 
recommendation, for the reason that the proposal failed to respect the 
traditional settlement pattern of Kirtlington, extending beyond the village’s built 
up limits, resulting in an incongruous and inappropriate form of development 
and was therefore contrary to Policies ESD13 and ESD15 of the Cherwell 
Local Plan 2011-2031 Part 1, Policies C8, C28 and C30 of the Cherwell Local 
Plan 1996, Policies PD1, PD4 and PD5 of the Mid-Cherwell Neighbourhood 
Plan 2018-2031 and Government guidance within the National Planning 
Policy Framework (with the exact wording delegated to officers). 
 
Resolved 
 
That application 23/02338/OUT be refused, contrary to the officer’s 
recommendation, for the following reasons: 
 
1. By virtue of the siting and form, the proposal fails to respect the 

traditional settlement pattern of Kirtlington, extending beyond the 
village’s built up limits, resulting in an incongruous and inappropriate 
form of development which would relate poorly to the remainder of the 
settlement. The proposal therefore runs contrary to Policies ESD13 and 
ESD15 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 Part 1, Policies C8, C28 
and C30 of the Cherwell Local Plan 1996, Policies PD1, PD4 and PD5 of 

Page 19



Planning Committee - 7 December 2023 

  

the Mid-Cherwell Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2031 and Government 
guidance within the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

2. In the absence of a satisfactory unilateral undertaking or any other form 
of Section 106 legal agreement the Local Planning Authority is not 
satisfied that the proposed development provides for appropriate 
infrastructure contributions required as a result of the development and 
necessary to make the impacts of the development acceptable in 
planning terms, to the detriment of both existing and proposed residents 
and workers and contrary to Policy INF1 of the Cherwell Local Plan 
2011-2031 Part 1, CDC’s Planning Obligations SPD 2018 and 
Government guidance within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 

89 OS Parcel 0622 South of Jersey Cottages and East of Heyford Road, 
Kirtlington  
 
The Committee considered application 23/02471/F, for the erection of 14 two 
storey dwellings and upgrading of existing access onto the Heyford Road, 
together with garaging and parking, footpath link, the removal and re-
instatement of a section of existing wall and its repair along the Heyford Road 
frontage, and landscaping and all enabling development at OS Parcel 0622 
South of Jersey Cottages and East of Heyford Road, Kirtlington for Abbeymill 
Homes. 
 
Pete Shaw, local resident, addressed the Committee in objection to the 
application. 
 
Tim Northey, on behalf of the applicant, Abbeymill Homes, and Briony Enser, 
Vice-Chair of Kirtlington Parish Council, addressed the Committee in support 
of the application. 
 
In reaching its decision the Committee considered the officer’s report, 
presentation, addresses from the public speakers and the written updates. 
 
Resolved 
 
That, in line with the officer’s recommendation, application 23/02471/F be 
refused for the following reasons: 
 
1. By virtue of its siting, scale, size, layout and form the proposal fails to 

respect the traditional settlement pattern of Kirtlington, extending beyond 
its built up limits to the east into countryside and into Kirtlington Park, 
resulting in an incongruous, contrived and inappropriate form of cul-de-
sac development which would relate poorly to the remainder of the 
village, and cause demonstrable harm to the rural character and setting 
of the village and visual amenities of the area. Therefore, the proposal is 
contrary to Policies PSD1, ESD13 and ESD15 of the Cherwell Local 
Plan 2011-2031 Part 1, saved Policies C8, C28 and C30 of the Cherwell 
Local Plan 1996, Policies PD1, PD4, PD5 and PD6 of the Mid-Cherwell 

Page 20



Planning Committee - 7 December 2023 

  

Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2031, Government guidance contained within 
the National Planning Policy Framework and the National Design Guide. 
 

2. The proposed development would, by reason of its location, scale, layout 
and form, cause considerable harm to the character and significance of 
the heritage assets of Kirtlington Conservation Area and the Grade II 
Registered Park and Garden at Kirtlington Park, and would cause 
unacceptable harm to the settings of nearby listed buildings, in particular 
Grade II Home Farm, Grade II 3-4 Foxtownsend Cottages and the wider 
setting of Grade I Kirtlington Park house. Therefore, the proposal is 
contrary to Policies PSD1, ESD13 and ESD15 of the Cherwell Local 
Plan 2011-2031 Part 1, Policy PD1 of the Mid-Cherwell Neighbourhood 
Plan 2018-2031 and Government advice within the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
3. The proposed development would fail to achieve a satisfactory standard 

of development on highway grounds due to the inability to achieve a 
satisfactory visibility splay to the north and the inability of a refuse 
collection vehicle to achieve satisfactory tracking within the site. In 
addition, in the absence of the failure to submit a Stage 1 Road Safety 
Audit, these three concerns would result in the potential for highway 
safety to be compromised. The development therefore conflicts with 
Policies PSD1, ESD15 and SLE4 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 
Part 1, Policy PD1 of the Mid-Cherwell Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2031 
and Government guidance contained within the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
4. The proposed development fails to address the need for a safe layout to 

prevent the risk of crime and disorder occurring. The proposal would 
therefore fail to comply with Policies PSD1, ESD15 and BSC11 of the 
Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 Part 1, Policy PD5 of the Mid-Cherwell 
Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2031 and Government guidance contained 
within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
5. The proposed development would occur on land classified as Grade 2 

BMV agricultural land, in conflict Policy Villages 2 of the Cherwell Local 
Plan 2011-2031 Part 1, Policy PD1 of the of the Mid-Cherwell 
Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2031 and Government guidance contained 
within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
6. In the absence of a satisfactory unilateral undertaking or any other form 

of Section 106 legal agreement the Local Planning Authority is not 
satisfied that the proposed development provides for appropriate 
infrastructure contributions required as a result of the development and 
necessary to make the impacts of the development acceptable in 
planning terms, to the detriment of both existing and proposed residents 
and workers and contrary to Policy INF1 of the Cherwell Local Plan 
2011-2031 Part 1, CDC’s Planning Obligations SPD 2018 and 
Government guidance within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 

Page 21



Planning Committee - 7 December 2023 

  

90 1 Elizabeth Rise Banbury OX16 9LZ  
 
The Committee considered application 23/02821/F for single and two storey 
front extensions, first floor side extension and single and two storey rear 
extensions, removal of chimney on south-west elevation (revised scheme of 
22/03323/F, 23/01059/F and 23/01952/F) at 1 Elizabeth Rise, Banbury, OX16 
9LZ for Mr G Ashraf. 
 
Councillor Kieron Mallon addressed the Committee as Local Ward Member. 
 
In reaching its decision the Committee considered the officers’ report, 
presentation, address of the public speaker and the written updates. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Webb and seconded by Councillor Harwood 
that application 23/02821/F be refused, against the officers’ recommendation, 
due to flooding risk, overdevelopment of the site and excessive parking and 
was therefore contrary to Policy DSD15 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 
(with the exact wording delegated to officers). 
 
Resolved 
 
That application 23/02821/F be refused, contrary to the officer’s 
recommendation, for the following reason: 
 
1. By reason of its scale, design and siting, the proposal would result in 

overdevelopment of the site and would therefore adversely affect the 
character and appearance of the area. The proposal would therefore be 
contrary to Policy ESD15 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 Part 1, 
saved Policies C28 and C30 of the Cherwell Local Plan 1996 and 
Government guidance contained within the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
 

91 Appeals Progress Report  
 
The Assistant Director Planning and Development submitted a report which 
informed Members about planning appeal progress including decisions 
received and the scheduling of public inquiries and hearings for new and 
current appeals.  
 
Resolved 
 
(1) That the position statement be accepted. 
 
 

92 Planning Performance Report  
 
The Assistant Director Planning and Development submitted a report that 
detailed the Council’s performance in determining planning applications 
against the Government’s targets on speed and quality, as well as general 
performance figures. 

Page 22



Planning Committee - 7 December 2023 

  

 
Resolved 
 
(1)  That the Council’s performance in determining planning applications for 

the Government’s targets on Speed and Quality, as well as general 
performance figures be noted. 

 
 
The meeting ended at 6.42 pm 
 
 
Chairman: 
 
Date: 
 

Page 23



CHERWELL DISTRICT COUNCIL                              
Planning Committee – 11 January 2024                                  
PLANNING APPLICATIONS INDEX 

The Officer’s recommendations are given at the end of the report on each application. 

Members should get in touch with staff as soon as possible after receiving this agenda 
if they wish to have any further information on the applications. 

Any responses to consultations, or information which has been received after the 
application report was finalised, will be reported at the meeting. 

The individual reports normally only refer to the main topic policies in the Cherwell 
Local Plan that are appropriate to the proposal.  However, there may be other policies 
in the Development Plan, or the Local Plan, or other national and local planning 
guidance that are material to the proposal but are not specifically referred to. 

The reports also only include a summary of the planning issues received in consultee 
representations and statements submitted on an application.  Full copies of the 
comments received are available for inspection by Members in advance of the 
meeting.  

Legal, Health and Safety, Crime and Disorder, Sustainability and Equalities 
Implications  

Any relevant matters pertaining to the specific applications are as set out in the 
individual reports. 

Human Rights Implications 

The recommendations in the reports may, if accepted, affect the human rights of 
individuals under Article 8 and Article 1 of the First Protocol of the European 
Convention on Human Rights.  However, in all the circumstances relating to the 
development proposals, it is concluded that the recommendations are in accordance 
with the law and are necessary in a democratic society for the protection of the rights 
and freedom of others and are also necessary to control the use of property in the 
interest of the public. 

Background Papers 

For each of the applications listed are: the application form; the accompanying 
certificates and plans and any other information provided by the applicant/agent; 
representations made by bodies or persons consulted on the application; any 
submissions supporting or objecting to the application; any decision notices or letters 
containing previous planning decisions relating to the application site 

 

 

 

 

Page 24

Agenda Annex



Item 
No. 

Site Application 
Number 

Ward Recommendation Contact 
Officer 

8 Former Pakefield 
House to Fortescue 
House, St. John’s 
Street, Bicester, OX26 
6SL 

23/01771/F Bicester 
East 

Approval Jeanette 
Davey 

*Subject to conditions 

Page 25



23/01771/F
Former Pakefield House to Fortescue House
St Johns Street
Bicester
OX26 6SL

±
1:700 © Crown Copyright and database right 2023. Ordnance Survey 100018504

Page 26

Agenda Item 8



BICESTER

1

2

to
21

10

28

CR

Hailles Gardens

71.6m

71.9m

Hous
e

Pakefield

Gare
loc

h

Fa
ne 

Ho
use

For
tes

cue

Newste
ad

Glym
e H

ous
e

1

House

23/01771/F
Former Pakefield House to Fortescue House
St Johns Street
Bicester
OX26 6SL

±
1:500 © Crown Copyright and database right 2023. Ordnance Survey 100018504

Page 27



BICESTER

9

5

2

4

1

3

6

to

44 35

72

37

29

21

19

23

10

47

28

41
39

31

15

Alley

FB

RO
AD

CLOSE

TwitchersHailles Gardens

CR

CROCKWELL

MA
NO

RS
FIE

LD

ST JOHN'S STREET

QU
EE

NS
 AV

EN
UE

1 to 6

Court

Close

7 to 12

71.6m

74.1m

72.8m

71.9m

Hous
e

Pakefield

Gare
loc

h

Fa
ne 

Ho
use

St Johns

Brook Side

For
tes

cue

Newste
ad

Glym
e H

ous
eRO

MA
N R

OA
D

4

2

5

1

2

5

1
5

2

1

House

23/01771/F
Former Pakefield House to Fortescue House
St Johns Street
Bicester
OX26 6SL

±
1:900 © Crown Copyright and database right 2023. Ordnance Survey 100018504

Page 28



 

Former Pakefield House to Fortescue House,  

St. John’s Street, Bicester, OX26 6SL 

 

 

23/01771/F 

Case Officer: Jeanette Davey 

Applicant:  Churchill Retirement Living 

Proposal:  Redevelopment for retirement living accommodation for older people 

comprising 41 no retirement apartments including communal facilities, 

access, car parking and landscaping 

Ward: Bicester East 
 

Councillors: Councillor Beckett, Councillor Dallimore and Councillor Ford 
 

Reason for 

Referral: 

Major development  

Expiry Date: 31 January 2024 Committee Date: 11 January 2024 

 
SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION: GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS 
AND A S106 LEGAL AGREEMENT. 
 
MAIN REPORT 
 
1. APPLICATION SITE AND LOCALITY  

  
1.1.  The application site is located within the Bicester Town confines and was previously 

currently occupied by four separate private dwellings which have now been 
demolished.  Located mainly along St. John’s Street, the site also occupies a 
prominent position at the junction with St. John’s Street and Queens Avenue.  

1.2.  The dwellings previously on the site were two storeys in height whilst on the other 
side of St. John’s Street are similar two storey dwellings along with a three-storey 
building known as Fane House located on the opposite side of the junction with St. 
John’s Street and Field Street.  

1.3.  To the rear of the site is a public park area onto which properties in Hunt Close front. 
The rear / southern boundary of the site is also marked by the River Bure.  

 
2. CONSTRAINTS 

2.1. The application site is within Bicester Town Centre and located to the immediate north 
of the River Bure, a Main River. Due to the location of the River Bure the site is located 
within an area allocated as Bank Top Width Planning - Development Near 
Watercourse.  As such, any development within this area will require the consent of 
the Environment Agency. The site is also located within an area of Archaeological 
Alert identified as part of the Bicester historic core which has shown a possible Anglo 
Saxon inhumation cemetery and settlement, medieval inhumations and other multi-
period features. 

3. DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 

Page 29



 

3.1. This application seeks planning permission for the re-development of the site with a 
single building to provide 41 self-contained retirement apartments with the addition of 
communal facilities and the provision of access, car parking and landscaping.  It varies 
from the extant permission for 38 dwellings allowed at appeal, by the addition of three 
dwellings within the previously approved roof area, across part of the approved 
building.  Occupiers would be restricted to those aged 60 or over with a spouse aged 
55 or over. 

3.2. The height of the proposed building would be a mix from 2.5 storeys rising to 4 storeys 
on the part of the site at the junction with St. Johns Street and Queens Avenue. This 
is the same height as previously allowed at appeal. 

3.3. The materials proposed include external facing in brick, tile-hanging and render, with 
concrete tiles and with a flat-roofed section at the road junction.  These are the same 
as those allowed at appeal. 

3.4. The design and volume vary from that allowed at appeal only to accommodate a 
punctuation of the roof on all four elevations with a total of fourteen additional dormer 
windows. The west elevation has additional minor changes with the re-positioning of 
the rendered section of the elevation and with a minor recess at the southern side of 
the building. 

3.5. Access is also as allowed at appeal.  It would be provided off a service road alongside 
St. John’s Street, with a single access point leading to the rear of the main block into 
a surface car park.  The number of spaces proposed increases from 14 approved at 
appeal to 16 proposed in this application.  

3.6. Landscaping for the remainder of the space around the building would be maintained 
as landscaped gardens with a patio outside of the communal lounge.  Some of the 
flats will have their own patios and others will have balconies.  This is broadly as 
allowed at appeal, with a minor increase in the amount of hard-paved area. 

3.7. The size of the site is stated on Page 21 of the Design and Access Statement (D+A) 
as approximately 0.25 hectares.  The ground floor footprint of the building is 971sq.m. 
and thus it states that the building occupies 39% of the site, allowing 61% to be used 
for open space, parking and soft landscaping.  A Case Officer measurement shows 
that approximately 22% of the total site would be used for parking and the access road. 

3.8. Timescales for Delivery: The agent advises that work is to commence imminently on 
the construction of the 38 unit scheme.  Demolition has been completed at the time of 
writing the report. 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
4.1. The following planning history is considered relevant to the current proposal:  

Application: 21/01818/F Appeal Allowed 
(Against Non 
Determination) 

29 April 2022 

Redevelopment of the site to form 38 no. Retirement apartments including 
communal facilities, access, car parking and landscaping 

Application: 21/01885/SO Screening Opinion 
not requesting EIA 

10 June 2021 

Redevelopment of the site to form 40 no. Retirement apartments including 
communal facilities, access, car parking and landscaping 

Page 30



 

Application: 23/00171/NMA Permitted 22 February 2023 

Minor elevational and internal changes (proposed as non-material 
amendment to 21/01818/F) 

Application: 23/00751/DISC   

Discharge of Conditions 9 (Watercourse enhancement), 10 (Hard & soft 
landscaping), 11 (LEMP), 12 (Proposed levels), 18 (Flood plain storage) and 
20 (CTMP) of 21/01818/F (appeal reference APP/C3105/W/21/3287556) 

Application: 23/00935/DISC Permitted 23 August 2023 

Discharge of Condition 16 (Proposed drainage layout) of 21/01818/F (appeal 
reference APP/C3105/W/21/3287556) 

Application: 23/01201/DISC Permitted 27 June 2023 

Discharge of condition 3 (Written Scheme of Investigation) 4 (staged 
programme of archaeological evaluation) of 21/01818/F 

4.2. The appeal that was allowed against non-determination in October 2022 is extant, 
has made a material commencement on site and is therefore capable of 
implementation.  This Committee stated in its considerations in January 2022 that the 
application would have been refused had it been determined by Planning Committee.  
The four reasons for refusal related to: 

a. Highway safety, specifically relating to visibility splay provision 

b. The loss of flood storage 

c. The submission of an inadequate flood risk assessment, and  

d. An inadequate ecological report assessment of the importance of the River 
Bure, the impact on the river’s ecology, an inadequate assessment of the 
loss of a small watercourse, insufficient detail on the management of the river 
corridor, how the development would deliver biodiversity net gain and how 
the development can contribute towards extending the connectivity of 
habitats up and downstream. 

4.3. The Planning Inspector, in allowing the appeal, also considered the context of the 
absence of a five year housing land supply at that time and the sustainable location 
of the development.  In connection with the Council’s proposed reasons for refusal, 
the agents for the application proceeded to satisfy the Inspector that there would be 
a proposed increase in flood storage on the site, providing a modest betterment to the 
wider catchment area;  it would function effectively and safely in terms of future flood 
risk.  The Inspector considered that highway safety would not be compromised 
because the development is on a service road with apparently light traffic and low 
indicative speeds and that traffic volume would not significantly increase due to the 
proximity of services within walking distance.  The Inspector considered that the 
baseline as then existed, of relatively limited ecological value of urban residential 
properties and their disconnect from the river provided scope to enhance the 
biodiversity value of the site and river corridor with improved permeability and gains 
in habitats and hedgerow units.  He proposed to overcome ecological concerns and 
secure the retention of the small river tributary with a series of conditions. 

5. PRE-APPLICATION DISCUSSIONS 
 
5.1. No pre-application discussions have taken place with regard to this proposal. 

Page 31



 

6. RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY 
 
6.1. This application has been publicised by way of a site notice displayed near the site 

and by letters sent to all properties immediately adjoining the application site that the 
Council has been able to identify from its records. The final date for comments was 1 
November 2023, although comments received after this date and before finalising 
this report have also been taken into account. 

6.2. One objection has been received. The comments raised by the third party are 
summarised as follows: 

 The height of the building proposed is out of context and will now totally 
dominate the street.   

 Will make the existing parking problems worse. 

6.3. The comments received can be viewed in full on the Council’s website, via the online 
Planning Register. 

7. RESPONSE TO CONSULTATION 
 

7.1. Below is a summary of the consultation responses received at the time of writing this 
report. Responses are available to view in full on the Council’s website, via the online 
Planning Register. 

PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL AND NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUMS 

7.2. BICESTER TOWN COUNCIL: Object on the grounds of the height of the building and 
safety concerns. 

CONSULTEES 

7.3. OCC HIGHWAYS: No objections subject to all conditions applied to the application 
ref 21/01818/F, if approved.  The addition of three units above that which has already 
been approved is unlikely to result in any perceptible highway or transport related 
impacts.  The access and servicing arrangements remain as previously approved.  
The provision for parking remains at the same ratio as previously approved and the 
parking and service area layout is acceptable. 

7.4. OCC LOCAL LEAD FLOOD AUTHORITY: No objection subject to conditions. 

7.5. OCC ARCHAEOLOGY: No objection.  The proposals outlined would not appear to 
have an invasive impact upon any known archaeological sites or features.  As such, 
there are no archaeological constraints to this scheme. 

7.6. CDC ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION: No objection. Noise: No additional 
comments to make providing the comments and recommendations in the submitted 
technical report are followed in their conclusion.  Contaminated Land: No further 
comments, providing the recommendations are followed.  Air Quality: We are satisfied 
that there will be no significant impact of the development on the local air quality based 
on the relatively low volume of additional traffic that the development will bring to the 
site.  Odour and Light: No comments. 

7.7. CDC LAND DRAINAGE:  No objection. The site extends to the north-east bank of 
the River Bure which is a Main River.  The proposed development footprint is, 
however, within Flood Zone 1 and access / egress to and from the built development 
will be entirely by Flood Zone 1.  No objections in principle and with advisory notes 
for the applicant. 

Page 32



 

7.8. CDC BUILDING CONTROL:  No objection.  EV charging points will be required to 
reflect guidance. 

7.9. THAMES VALLEY POLICE:  No objection.  Whilst I do not wish to object to this 
application, I ask that concerns are addressed, with amended plans prior to 
permission being granted.   

7.10. THAMES WATER:  No objection.  This catchment is subject to high infiltration flows 
during certain groundwater conditions.  The scale of the proposed development 
doesn’t materially affect the sewer network and as such we have no objection.  With 
regard to surface water drainage, Thames Water would advise that, if the developer 
follows the sequential approach to the disposal of surface water, we would have no 
objection.  

7.11. CDC STRATEGIC HOUSING: A commuted sum in lieu of affordable housing is 
required. 

7.12. CDC COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE: CIL Regulation provision listed includes for 
community hall facilities, outdoor and indoor sport provision and public art. 

7.13. ENVIRONMENT AGENCY: No response received but response expected. 

7.14. CDC ECOLOGY: No response received. 

7.15. CDC ARBORICULTURE: No response received. 

7.16. CDC CONSERVATION: No response received. 

7.17. CDC LANDSCAPE SERVICES: No response received. 

7.18. CDC PLANNING POLICY: No response received. 

7.19. CDC RECREATION AND LEISURE: No response received. 

7.20. CDC WASTE AND RECYCLING: No response received. 

7.21. BBOWT: No response received. 

8. RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE 
 
8.1. Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined 

in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. 
 

8.2. The Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 - Part 1 was formally adopted by Cherwell District 
Council on 20th July 2015 and provides the strategic planning policy framework for 
the District to 2031.  The Local Plan 2011-2031 – Part 1 replaced a number of the 
‘saved’ policies of the adopted Cherwell Local Plan 1996 though many of its policies 
are retained and remain part of the development plan. The relevant planning policies 
of Cherwell District’s statutory Development Plan are set out below: 

 
CHERWELL LOCAL PLAN 2011 - 2031 PART 1 (CLP 2031 Part 1) 

• PSD1: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  
• SLE4: Improved Transport and Connections  
• BSC1: District Wide Housing Distribution  
• BSC2: The Effective and Efficient Use of Land – Brownfield land and 

Housing Density  
• BSC3: Affordable Housing  

Page 33



 

• BSC4: Housing Mix  
• BSC10: Open Space, Outdoor Sport and Recreation Provision  
• BSC11: Local Standards of Provision – Outdoor Recreation  
• BSC12: Indoor Sport, Recreation and Community Facilities  
• ESD1: Mitigating and Adapting to Climate Change  
• ESD2: Energy Hierarchy and Allowable Solutions  
• ESD3: Sustainable Construction  
• ESD6: Sustainable Flood Risk Management  
• ESD7: Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS)  
• ESD10: Protection and Enhancement of Biodiversity and the Natural     

Environment  
• ESD13: Local Landscape Protection and Enhancement  
• ESD15: The Character of the Built and Historic Environment  
• INF1: Infrastructure  

 
CHERWELL LOCAL PLAN 1996 SAVED POLICIES (CLP 1996) 

• C28: Layout, design and external appearance of new development 
• C30: Design of new residential development 
• C31: Compatibility of proposals in residential areas 
• ENV1: Environmental pollution 
• ENV12: Potentially contaminated land 
• TR1: Transportation funding 
• R12: Provision of public open space in association with new residential 

development 
 
8.3. Other Material Planning Considerations 

• National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  
• Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)  
• EU Habitats Directive  
• Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006  
• Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017  
• Circular 06/2005 (Biodiversity and Geological Conservation)  

 
9. APPRAISAL 
 
9.1. The key issues for consideration in this case are: 

• Principle of development 
• Design, and impact on the character of the area 
• Highway impact 
• Flooding / drainage impact 
• Residential amenity 
• S106/Infrastructure 
• Sustainable Construction 
• Ecology 

 
Principle of Development  

Policy Context 
9.2. Policy PSD1 of the CLP 2015 states that when considering development proposals, 

the Council will take a proactive approach to reflect the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development contained in the National Planning Policy Framework. The 
policy continues by stating that planning applications that accord with the policies in 
this Local Plan (or other parts of the statutory Development Plan) will be approved 
without delay unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Paragraph B88 of the 
CLP 2015 also highlights that by focusing development in and around the towns of 
Bicester and Banbury we aim to ensure that the housing growth which the District 

Page 34



 

needs only takes place in the locations that are most sustainable and most capable 
of absorbing this new growth. 
 

9.3. Policy BSC 2 of the CLP 2015 highlights the importance of effective and efficient use 
of land and the use of sites. Under this Policy it is highlighted that housing 
development in Cherwell will be expected to make effective and efficient use of land. 
The Policy also states that the Council will encourage the re-use of previously 
developed land in sustainable locations. New housing should be provided on net 
developable areas at a density of at least 30 dwellings per hectare unless there are 
justifiable planning reasons for lower density development. 

 
9.4. Policy BSC4 covers the issue of providing housing mix and includes the need to 

provide for a mixed community. It states that opportunities for the provision of extra 
care, specialist housing for older and/or disabled people and those with mental health 
needs and other supported housing for those with specific living needs will be 
encouraged in suitable locations close to services and facilities. The applicant is not 
providing sheltered housing, but the accommodation is aimed at those who have 
retired rather than general housing and therefore this policy is of relevance. 

 
Assessment 

 

9.5. The principle of the development has already been tested at appeal and is appropriate 

for this location. The site would remain in residential use. The proposal would allow 

for an increase in the level of retirement accommodation within the town centre as 

supported by Policy BSC4. The proposal also complies with Policies PSD1 and 

BSC2 of the CLP 2015. Detailed acceptability is subject to other considerations. 
 
Design and impact on the character of the area  

 
Policy Context  

9.6. Government guidance contained within the NPPF requiring good design states in 
Paragraph 131 that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates 
better places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to 
communities. Paragraph 139 of the NPPF states that development that is not well-
designed should be refused. 
 

9.7. Saved Policies C28 and C30 of the CLP 1996 exercise control over all new 
developments to ensure that the standards of layout, design and external appearance 
are sympathetic to the character of the context. New housing development should be 
compatible with the appearance, character, layout, scale and density of existing 
dwellings in the vicinity.  

 
9.8. Policy ESD15 of the CLP 2015 provides guidance as to the assessment of 

development and its impact upon the character of the built and historic environment. 
It seeks to secure development that would complement and enhance the character of 
its context through sensitive siting, layout and ensuring a high-quality design.  

 
9.9. The NPPF states that planning decisions should ensure that developments:  
 

 will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the 
short term but over the lifetime of the development;  

 

 are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate 
and effective landscaping;  

 

Page 35



 

 are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 
environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging 
appropriate innovation or change  

 
9.10. The Council’s Design Guide seeks to ensure that new development responds to the 

traditional settlement pattern and character of a town. This includes the use of 
continuous building forms along principal routes and the use of traditional building 
materials and detailing and form that respond to the local vernacular.  

 
Assessment  

9.11. The previous dwellings on the site were two storey residential dwellings, as are most 
of the dwellings on the opposite side of St John’s Street.  The exception to this is Fane 
House, a three-storey building located at the junction of St. John’s Street and Field 
Street, and the backdrop provided by the five-storey solicitor’s office with Travelodge 
at the roundabout junction of St John’s Street with Manorsfield Road. 
 

9.12. Whilst the proposed building would appear as a large structure in the street scene 
when compared to the nearby two-storey dwellings, nothing has changed in terms of 
height, position, materials and elevational details from that which was allowed at 
appeal, other than the addition of dormer windows in the roof.  The impact of that 
addition on residential amenity is addressed in a later section of this report. 

 
Conclusion 

9.13. The height, design and use of materials is considered appropriate in this town centre 
location and has been previously allowed at appeal.  There are no changes to those 
three elements of the scheme other than very minor elevational changes, when 
considering the impact on the character of the area.  For these reasons it is considered 
that, in terms of design and appearance, the development is acceptable and would 
not warrant a reason to refuse the application.  
 
Highway impact  

 
9.14. Paragraph 114 of the NPPF states that, in assessing specific applications for 

development, it should be ensured that:  
 
a) appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes can be – or 

have been – taken up, given the type of development and its location;  
 
b) safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users; and  
 
c) any significant impacts from the development on the transport network (in terms 

of capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost effectively 
mitigated to an acceptable degree.  

 
In addition to this paragraph 115 highlights that development should only be 
prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact 
on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be 
severe. In terms of parking provision paragraph 112 highlights that maximum parking 
standards for residential and non-residential development should only be set where 
there is a clear and compelling justification that they are necessary for managing the 
local road network, or for optimising the density of development in city and town 
centres and other locations that are well served by public transport. The paragraph 
continues by stating that, in town centres, local authorities should seek to improve the 
quality of parking so that it is convenient, safe and secure, alongside measures to 
promote accessibility for pedestrians and cyclists.  

 

Page 36



 

9.15. Policy ESD15 of the CLP 2015 highlights, amongst other things that in terms of design 
new development should demonstrate a holistic approach to the design of the public 
realm to create high quality and multi-functional streets and places that promotes 
pedestrian movement and integrates different modes of transport, parking and 
servicing. The principles set out in The Manual for Streets should be followed.  

 
Assessment  

9.16. This application seeks to provide a new access point into the site off the existing 
private service road which runs alongside St. John’s Street. This service road allows 
access to all of the dwellings along this side of St. Johns Street as well as the 
application site and formerly provided separate access points to the four dwellings 
which have now been demolished. As part of the proposal the applicant also seeks to 
reinstate a currently closed access point onto St John’s Street.  

 
9.17. In considering the issue of access, the Planning Inspector concluded in Paragraph 28 

of his decision that the proposed development, including its site access, would not 
harm highway safety.  As such, it would not conflict with Policy ESD15 of the CLP 
(2015) , which seeks to ensure that development contributes to, among other things, 
high quality and multi-functional streets and places in line with principles in the Manual 
for Streets.  Also, the proposal would accord with Paragraph 110(b) (now Paragraph 
114(b)) of the Framework in respect of safe and suitable access.  The Local Highway 
Authority (LHA) has no objection to the addition of three units, subject to conditions.   
 

9.18. Turning to the issue of parking, the layout plans show a parking courtyard to the south 
of the main building with 16 spaces allocated for the use of the residents. The parking 
provided a ratio of 0.36 spaces per apartment for the scheme that was allowed at 
appeal and the County Highway Authority note that the provision for parking on this 
scheme remains at the same ratio.  They consider that the parking and service area 
layout is acceptable.   

 
9.19. The LHA advised on the allowed appeal that, given the type of land use development 

and evidence based comparable parking demand data, its sustainable location and 
lower car ownership for the demographics of the residents, together with the cycling 
and mobility scooter use options, the amount of residential car parking provision is 
acceptable. For these reasons, officers consider the level of parking provision 
proposed to be acceptable for this type of development in this sustainable / town 
centre location.  

 
Conclusion  

9.20. The access to and from the site would use the private service road along the side of 
St. John’s Street as previously allowed at appeal.  Parking and servicing 
arrangements are acceptable, all subject to condition.  The proposal therefore 
complies with Policy ESD15 of the CLP 2015 as well as the provisions of the NPPF.  

 
Flooding / drainage impact  

 
Policy context  

9.21. Section 14 of the NNPF covers the issue of meeting the challenge of climate change, 
flooding and coastal change. Paragraph 173 states that when determining any 
planning applications, local planning authorities should ensure that flood risk is not 
increased elsewhere. Where appropriate, applications should be supported by a site-
specific flood-risk assessment. Development should only be allowed in areas at risk 
of flooding where, in the light of this assessment (and the sequential and exception 
tests, as applicable) it can be demonstrated that: 
  

a) within the site, the most vulnerable development is located in areas of lowest 
flood risk, unless there are overriding reasons to prefer a different location;  

Page 37



 

 
b) the development is appropriately flood resistant and resilient;  

 
c) it incorporates sustainable drainage systems, unless there is clear evidence that 

this would be inappropriate;  
 

d) any residual risk can be safely managed; and e) safe access and escape routes 
are included where appropriate, as part of an agreed emergency plan.  

 
9.22. Paragraph 175 of the NPPF continues by stating that major developments should 

incorporate sustainable drainage systems unless there is clear evidence that this 
would be inappropriate. The systems used should:  

 
a) take account of advice from the lead local flood authority;  

 
b) have appropriate proposed minimum operational standards;  

 
c) have maintenance arrangements in place to ensure an acceptable standard of 

operation for the lifetime of the development; and  
 

d) where possible, provide multifunctional benefits.  
 

9.23. Policy ESD 6 of the CLP 2015 essentially replicates national policy contained in the 
NPPF with respect to assessing and managing flood risk. In short, this policy resists 
development where it would increase the risk of flooding and seeks to guide 
vulnerable developments (such as residential) towards areas at lower risk of flooding. 
 

9.24. Policy ESD 7 of the CLP 2015 requires the use of Sustainable Drainage Systems 
(SuDS) to manage surface water drainage systems. This is with the aim to manage 
and reduce flood risk in the District.  
 
Assessment  

9.25. The southern boundary to the application site is marked by the River Bure and, as 
such, parts of the site are in flood zones 2 and 3 as well as flood zone 1. For this 
reason, the application is supported by a detailed flood risk assessment (FRA) (The 
Civil Engineering Practice, updated September 2023).  The FRA states in its Non-
Technical Summary that, in terms of surface water and flood risk management, the 
proposed development is suitable at this location: 
 

 Finished floor levels will be set at a minimum of 71.75m AOD thereby 
providing at least 600mm freeboard above all predicted 1:100 year fluvial 
flood events for the year 2115. 

 Compensatory flood storage will be provided to ensure that the volume of the 
existing floodplain is maintained. 

 The proposed development will incorporate a sustainable drainage system 
which will discharge surface water at a suitably restricted rate to the 
watercourse at the southern boundary of the site. 

 Foul drainage will be discharged by gravity predominantly via a new 
connection to the existing 525mm Thames Water public combined sewer 
located beneath the access road with the remainder discharging to the 
diverted 225mm public foul sewer to the south of the building. 

 
9.26. The FRA has not been considered by the Environment Agency due to their restricted 

staffing resources.  However, the Planning Inspector for the allowed appeal 
considered two issues in assessing whether the scheme was acceptable in flood risk 
terms.  First was the sequential test for reasonably available alternative sites.  He was 
satisfied in paragraph 7 of his decision letter that the provisions of Policy ESD6 of the 

Page 38



 

CLP (2015) had been met.  Second was the exception test part of Policy ESD6.  In 
the Inspector’s paragraph 8, he had no reason to doubt that the re-engineering of 
ground levels proposed by the appellant’s civil engineering consultant would provide 
a slight increase in flood storage on the site and would not increase flood risk 
elsewhere.  He was satisfied that the proposal would satisfy the provisions of the 
NPPF and the Flood Risk PPG and he had no reason to doubt their view that the site 
would be safe in terms of flood risk.  The September 2023 FRA reaches the same 
conclusion in Paragraph 8.10, that the site will be safe in terms of flood risk.  The 
current proposal therefore has to be considered acceptable in light of the appeal 
decision.  It is considered appropriate to impose a condition requiring details of 
surfacing for the additional patio and parking areas proposed in this scheme over and 
above that previously allowed at appeal, to enable the Environment Agency to assess 
their impact. 
 

9.27. In the absence of a response to consultation from the Environment Agency and the 
Council’s Ecologist, it is not possible to confirm whether the Ecological Assessment 
submitted with the application (Tyler Grange, 28.09.2023) adequately assesses the 
importance of the river, or the development’s impact on its ecology.  It is therefore 
necessary to turn once again to the Planning Inspector’s decision.  His Paragraph 17 
stated the baseline of the relatively limited ecological value of the four urban 
residential properties and their disconnect from the river.  He considered that there 
was scope to enhance the biodiversity value of the appeal site and the river corridor.  
This included removing the site’s existing riverside walling and fencing barrier, which 
would improve permeability between the riverside and the site for flora and fauna.  
Scope on site to provide nature-friendly measures, retention of a waterbody through 
a planning condition and a suite of conditions covering site clearance, species 
protection, landscaping, watercourse buffer zone conservation and enhancement, 
and a landscape and ecological management plan satisfied the Inspector that it would 
help to secure a suitably holistic, nature-sensitive approach to the development. 

 
Conclusion  

9.28. The application site is located within flood zones 1, 2 and 3. The proposed 
development would ensure that the built form of the apartments would be located 
within the area of flood zone 1 while an area of the car park would be located within 
the area of flood zone 3b.  The Planning Inspector for the previous decision was 
satisfied that mitigation could occur through the imposition of conditions.  Nothing has 
changed since that submission other than the addition of two small areas of 
hardstanding for parking and patio areas.  Similarly, they can be mitigated through 
conditions. 
 

9.29. The Inspector concludes, in paragraph 21 of his decision letter on ecological matters 
that, even without a Modular River Physical (MoRPh) survey of the river, the proposed 
development would adequately provide for biodiversity, with particular regard to river 
corridor habitat.  He considered that the proposal therefore accords with Policy ESD10 
of the CLP 2015 and to the NPPF’s approach to conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment. 

 
Residential amenity  

 
9.30. Saved Policy C30 of the CLP 1996 requires that a development must provide 

standards of amenity and privacy acceptable to the Local Planning Authority. These 
provisions are echoed in Policy ESD15 of the CLP 2015, which states that new 
development proposals should consider amenity of both existing and future 
development, including matters of privacy, outlook, natural lighting, ventilation and 
indoor and outdoor space.  

 

Page 39



 

9.31. The closest neighbouring property is to the immediate south of the building and is 
known as Newstead which is separated by a distance of approximately 8m from the 
side of the built form of the development. There is no change to the proposal from that 
already allowed at appeal in terms of its impact on this property.  

 
9.32. It is necessary to consider the additional potential for overlooking provided by the 

dormer windows in the roof, which are additional to that allowed at appeal.  Those on 
the west elevation would be looking towards a telephone exchange, police station, 
small area of green space and dwellings on Hunt Close.  Those additional windows 
would be at a distance of approximately 70 metres from the existing dwellings.  They 
would also be no higher than windows on the windows already approved in the four- 
storey element of the scheme. 

 
9.33. Those on the north elevation would be looking towards Fane House and two-storey 

dwellings on St John’s Street.  The distance between the existing and proposed 
dwellings would be approximately 28 metres. This separation distance is considered 
to be acceptable, particularly in the context of Cherwell Residential Design Guide’s 
separation distances.  Section 6.7 of the Guide has principles for amenity space which 
are the best fit for this application, where property frontage distances are being 
considered.  The Guide includes back-to-back separation distances of 22 metres and 
first floor habitable room window separation distances of 7m from a neighbouring 
property.  Similar to the west elevation, the window heights are no higher than those 
already approved on the four-storey corner element of the scheme, which was 
considered acceptable by the Planning Inspector in paragraph 31 of his decision 
letter.    

 
9.34. Whilst there is a minor change to the floor plan on the proposed east elevation with 

the addition of a ground floor porch entrance, in terms of the provision of windows, 
the east elevation would not change from that previously allowed at appeal.  As such, 
the overlooking impact on the neighbour at Newstead would not change from that 
allowed at appeal. 

 
S106/Infrastructure  

 
Policy Context  

9.35. Paragraph 55 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should consider 
whether otherwise unacceptable development could be made acceptable through the 
use of conditions or planning obligations. Planning obligations should only be used 
where it is not possible to address unacceptable impacts through a planning condition. 
Paragraph 57 continues by stating that planning obligations must only be sought 
where they meet all of the following tests:  

 
a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;  

 
b) directly related to the development; and  

 
c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.  
 

Development Plan  
9.36. Paragraph 66 of the NPPF states that exemptions to the need to provide affordable 

housing should be made where the site or proposed development provides specialist 
accommodation for a group of people with specific needs (such as purpose-built 
accommodation for the elderly).   Annex 2, the Glossary, does not define the elderly.  
However, it includes within the definition of older people those over or approaching 
retirement age, including the active, newly retired… and whose housing needs can 
encompass accessible, adaptable general needs housing through to the full range of 
retirement and specialised housing for those with support or care needs.  

Page 40



 

 
9.37. Policy INF1 of the CLP 2015 covers the issue of Infrastructure. This Policy states, 

amongst other things, that the Council's approach to infrastructure planning in the 
District will identify the infrastructure required to meet the District's growth, to support 
the strategic site allocations and to ensure delivery by:  
 

 Development proposals will be required to demonstrate that infrastructure 
requirements can be met including the provision of transport, education, 
health, social and community facilities.  

 
9.38. Policy BSC 3 of the CLP 2015 states, amongst other things that at Bicester and 

elsewhere, all proposed developments that include 11 or more dwellings (gross), or 
which would be provided on sites suitable for 11 or more dwellings (gross), will be 
expected to provide at least 35% of new housing as affordable homes on site. The 
Policy continues by stating that, all qualifying developments will be expected to 
provide 70% of the affordable housing as affordable/social rented dwellings and 30% 
as other forms of intermediate affordable homes. Social rented housing will be 
particularly supported in the form of extra care or other supported housing. It is 
expected that these requirements will be met without the use of social housing grant 
or other grant.  

 
9.39. The Council also has a Developer Contributions SPD in place which was adopted in 

February 2018. It should, however, be noted that this is a general guide and 
development proposals will continue to be assessed on a case-by-case basis with the 
individual circumstances of each site being taken into consideration when identifying 
infrastructure requirements.  

 
Assessment  

 
9.40. The application is a major development and therefore affordable housing provision 

needs to be considered in accordance with CDC’s Developer Contributions SPD 
2018. Paragraph 66 of the NPPF, detailed above, appears to provide an exemption 
for schemes such as this one.  However, there is no specialist provision on site for 
adaptable housing.  Part M4(3) of Schedule 1 to the Building Regulations 2010 states 
that provision of wheelchair user dwellings must be made sufficient to allow simple 
adaptation of the dwelling to meet the needs of occupants who use wheelchairs.  The 
following is not provided for in the layout: 
 

 The internal door widths and positions, defined at 3.24 of Part M4(3) and the 
required clear turning circle within the private entrance area, defined at 3.22 
of Part M4(3), do not meet Building Regulation standards for wheelchair 
accessibility.    

 There is no information to confirm that entrance to the ground floor would be 
step-free.   

 There is no on-site manager.   

 There is no wheelchair accessible parking. 
 

As such, the scheme does not fall within the category of specialist accommodation 
other than through an age restriction which was imposed as Condition 25 of the 
allowed appeal.  Inspector decisions do not include reasons for the conditions 
imposed so an assumption has to be made, which is that the condition was principally 
to address the anticipated low parking demand of the development’s future residents 
(paragraph 29 of his decision). 
 

9.41. The policy requirement is for 30% affordable housing as set out in Policy BSC3 in the 
CLP 2015 which would equate to 12.3 units with a 70:30 tenure split between rented 
and shared ownership. As part of the application allowed at appeal, the applicant 

Page 41



 

provided a Viability Statement of the scheme (Bailey Venning Associates, April 2021) 
which highlighted that the proposal would not be viable with the cost of providing an 
element of affordable housing as part of the development. For this reason, that 
application as submitted was not supported by any S106 contributions such as 
affordable housing.  That viability appraisal was written at a time when the appraisal 
referred to Brexit and covid uncertainties and it included a return for risk to reflect that. 
 

9.42. It is not understood why the current application is lacking a Viability Statement.  
Changes to market conditions and the increase of three additional dwelling units 
would alter the viability of the scheme.  Similarly, the submitted Planning Statement 
(Planning Issues, September 2023), fails to acknowledge relevant Local Plan and 
NPPF policy relating to S106 and Infrastructure requirements. 

 
9.43. Paragraph 9.57 of the Officer Report for the earlier application considered by this 

Committee in January 2022 included that, following an independent review, it was 
considered that the findings of the Viability Statement were reasonable.  The Council’s 
Strategic Housing Officer therefore confirmed that there would be no request for 
affordable housing contributions at that time.  The absence of a S106 agreement 
therefore did not form a proposed reason for refusal, had the Local Planning Authority 
determined the application.  Similarly, the inspector did not consider viability in his 
decision-making. 

 
9.44. It is necessary to revisit this issue following on from the previous conclusion drawn up 

for Planning Committee’s consideration of application 21/01818/F and the subsequent 
appeal decision.  The absence of provision of S106 contributions conflicts with policies 
relating to planning obligations in the CLP 2015, the Developer Contributions SPD 
and with the provisions of the NPPF.  The officer recommendation therefore includes 
a requirement to provide a viability statement, for that statement to be independently 
assessed and, if shown to be viable, for a contribution to be paid via a S106 
agreement.  Should the developer fail to agree to that recommendation prior to 
Planning Committee, the application is recommended for refusal on that ground. 

 
9.45. Turning to S106 requirements from the Council’s Leisure and Recreation Team, they 

also sought contributions against the earlier application allowed at appeal.  These 
were discounted for the same viability reasons.  It is now necessary to revisit their 
request, which is for a contribution towards Community Hall facilities, sport provision 
and public art totalling in excess of £139,000, index-linked. The officer 
recommendation is repeated as per that for the affordable housing S106 contribution. 

 
Sustainable Construction  

 
9.46. Section 14 of the NPPF covers the issue of meeting the challenge of climate change, 

flooding and coastal change. Paragraph 159 states that new development should be 
planned for in ways that:  

 
a) avoid increased vulnerability to the range of impacts arising from climate change. 
When new development is brought forward in areas which are vulnerable, care 
should be taken to ensure that risks can be managed through suitable adaptation 
measures, including through the planning of green infrastructure; and  

 
b) can help to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, such as through its location, 
orientation and design. Any local requirements for the sustainability of buildings 
should reflect the Government’s policy for national technical standards.  
 

Paragraph 160 continues by stating, amongst other things, that in order to help 
increase the use and supply of renewable and low carbon energy and heat, plans 
should:  

Page 42



 

 
c) identify opportunities for development to draw its energy supply from 
decentralised, renewable or low carbon energy supply systems and for co-locating 
potential heat customers and suppliers.  
 

9.47. Policy ESD1 of the CLP 2015 covers the issue of Mitigating and Adapting to Climate 
Change and includes a criteria under which application for new development will be 
considered. Included in the criteria is the requirement that development will 
incorporate suitable adaptation measures to ensure that development is more resilient 
to climate change impacts. These requirements will include the consideration of, 
taking into account the known physical and environmental constraints when 
identifying locations for development. Demonstration of design approaches that are 
resilient to climate change impacts including the use of passive solar design for 
heating and cooling. Minimising the risk of flooding and making use of sustainable 
drainage methods and reducing the effects of development on the microclimate 
(through the provision of green infrastructure including open space and water, 
planting, and green roofs).  
 

9.48. With regards to Policy ESD2, this covers the area of Energy Hierarchy and Allowable 
Solutions. This policy seeks to achieve carbon emissions reductions, where the 
Council will promote an 'energy hierarchy' as follows: Reducing energy use, in 
particular by the use of sustainable design and construction measures. Supplying 
energy efficiently and giving priority to decentralised energy supply. Making use of 
renewable energy Making use of allowable solutions. Any new development will be 
expected to take these points into account and address the energy neds of the 
development.  

 
9.49. Policy ESD3 covers the issue of Sustainable Construction and states amongst other 

things that all new residential development will be expected to incorporate sustainable 
design and construction technology to achieve zero carbon development through a 
combination of fabric energy efficiency, carbon compliance and allowable solutions in 
line with Government policy. The Policy continues by stating that Cherwell District is 
in an area of water stress and as such the Council will seek a higher level of water 
efficiency than required in the Building Regulations, with developments achieving a 
limit of 110 litres/person/day. The Policy continues by stating that all development 
proposals will be encouraged to reflect high quality design and high environmental 
standards, demonstrating sustainable construction methods including but not limited 
to: Minimising both energy demands and energy loss. Maximising passive solar 
lighting and natural ventilation. Maximising resource efficiency Incorporating the use 
of recycled and energy efficient materials. Incorporating the use of locally sourced 
building materials. Reducing waste and pollution and making adequate provision for 
the recycling of waste. Making use of sustainable drainage methods. Reducing the 
impact on the external environment and maximising opportunities for cooling and 
shading (by the provision of open space and water, planting, and green roofs, for 
example); and making use of the embodied energy within buildings wherever possible 
and re-using materials where proposals involve demolition or redevelopment.  
 

9.50. The applicant has made it clear in the Design and Access Statement (Planning Issues, 
undated) that the flat roof areas of the building provide an ideal location for the 
positioning of a number of photo-voltaic panels which as they would be located within 
the valley of the roof the panels would be hidden from view. The applicant also notes 
that the electricity produced by solar cells is clean and silent and that solar energy is 
a readily available renewable resource. The applicant continues by stating that the 
proposed development would also seek to maximise passive solar lighting and natural 
ventilation and that all areas of the building internally and externally would be lit using 
low energy lighting and where applicable utilise appropriate daylight and movement 
sensor controls. With regards to water use the applicant has confirmed that in order 

Page 43



 

to reduce excessive potable water use, water saving appliances are provided. All 
apartments would be fitted with flow restrictors, aerated taps and dual flush low 
capacity cisterns and that all apartments would have shower cubicles rather than 
baths fitted in their principal bathrooms.  

 
9.51. Officers are satisfied that the proposed development would comply with the 

requirements of the Policy and that the development would be a sustainable proposal 
in terms of energy use. In the event of any permission being granted a condition would 
be attached requiring the implementation of these measures outlined by the applicant. 
 
Ecology Impact 

Legislative context 
9.52. The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 consolidate the 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 with subsequent 
amendments. The Regulations transpose European Council Directive 92/43/EEC, on 
the conservation of natural habitats and of wild fauna and flora (EC Habitats 
Directive), into national law. They also transpose elements of the EU Wild Birds 
Directive in England and Wales. The Regulations provide for the designation and 
protection of 'European sites', the protection of 'European protected species', and the 
adaptation of planning and other controls for the protection of European Sites. 

9.53. Under the Regulations, competent authorities i.e. any Minister, government 
department, public body, or person holding public office, have a general duty, in the 
exercise of any of their functions, to have regard to the EC Habitats Directive and Wild 
Birds Directive.  

9.54. The Regulations provide for the control of potentially damaging operations, whereby 
consent from the country agency may only be granted once it has been shown through 
appropriate assessment that the proposed operation will not adversely affect the 
integrity of the site.  In instances where damage could occur, the appropriate Minister 
may, if necessary, make special nature conservation orders, prohibiting any person 
from carrying out the operation. However, an operation may proceed where it is or 
forms part of a plan or project with no alternative solutions, which must be carried out 
for reasons of overriding public interest.  

9.55. The Regulations make it an offence (subject to exceptions) to deliberately capture, 
kill, disturb, or trade in the animals listed in Schedule 2, or pick, collect, cut, uproot, 
destroy, or trade in the plants listed in Schedule 4. However, these actions can be 
made lawful through the granting of licenses by the appropriate authorities by meeting 
the requirements of the 3 strict legal derogation tests: 

(1) Is the development needed to preserve public health or public safety or other 
imperative reasons of overriding public interest including those of a social or 
economic nature and beneficial consequences of primary importance for the 
environment? 

(2) That there is no satisfactory alternative. 

(3) That the action authorised will not be detrimental to the maintenance of the 
population of the species concerned at a favourable conservation status in their 
natural range. 

9.56. The Regulations require competent authorities to consider or review planning 
permission, applied for or granted, affecting a European site, and, subject to certain 
exceptions, restrict or revoke permission where the integrity of the site would be 
adversely affected. Equivalent consideration and review provisions are made with 
respects to highways and roads, electricity, pipe-lines, transport and works, and 

Page 44



 

environmental controls (including discharge consents under water pollution 
legislation).  

Policy Context 
9.57. Paragraph 180 of the NPPF states that Planning policies and decisions should 

contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by (amongst others): a) 
protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity or geological value 
and soils; and d) minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity, 
including by establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to 
current and future pressures.  

9.58. Paragraph 186 states that when determining planning applications, local planning 
authorities should apply the following principles: a) if significant harm to biodiversity 
resulting from a development cannot be avoided, adequately mitigated, or, as a last 
resort, compensated for, then planning permission should be refused; d) development 
whose primary objective is to conserve or enhance biodiversity should be supported; 
while opportunities to incorporate biodiversity improvements in and around 
developments should be encouraged, especially where this can secure measurable 
net gains for biodiversity. 

9.59. Paragraph 191 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should also ensure that 
new development is appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects 
(including cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural 
environment, as well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts 
that could arise from the development. In doing so they should (amongst others) limit 
the impact of light pollution from artificial light on local amenity, intrinsically dark 
landscapes and nature conservation.  

9.60. Policy ESD10 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 lists measures to ensure the 
protection and enhancement of biodiversity and the natural environment, including a 
requirement for relevant habitat and species surveys and associated reports to 
accompany planning applications which may affect a site, habitat or species of known 
ecological value. 

9.61. Policy ESD11 is concerned with Conservation Target Areas (CTAs), and requires all 
development proposals within or adjacent CTAs to be accompanied by a biodiversity 
survey and a report identifying constraints and opportunities for biodiversity 
enhancement. 

9.62. These policies are both supported by national policy in the NPPF and also, under 
Regulation 43 of Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 2017, it is a criminal 
offence to damage or destroy a breeding site or resting place, unless a licence is in 
place. 

9.63. The Planning Practice Guidance dated 2014 post-dates the previous Government 
Circular on Biodiversity and Geological Conservation (ODPM Circular 06/2005), 
although this remains extant. The PPG states that Local Planning Authorities should 
only require ecological surveys where clearly justified, for example if there is a 
reasonable likelihood of a protected species being present and affected by 
development. Assessments should be proportionate to the nature and scale of 
development proposed and the likely impact on biodiversity. 

Assessment 
9.64. Natural England’s Standing Advice states that an LPA only needs to ask an applicant 

to carry out a survey if it’s likely that protected species are: 

 Present on or near the proposed site, such as protected bats at a proposed 
barn conversion affected by the development 

Page 45



 

It also states that LPAs can also ask for: 

 A scoping survey to be carried out (often called an ‘extended Phase 1 survey), 
which is useful for assessing whether a species-specific survey is needed, in 
cases where it’s not clear which species is present, if at all; 

 An extra survey to be done, as a condition of the planning permission for 
outline plans or multi-phased developments, to make sure that protected 
species aren’t affected at each stage (this is known as a ‘condition survey’). 

9.65. The Standing Advice sets out habitats that may have the potential for protected 
species, and in this regard the site consists of private garden spaces and built existing 
dwellings. The site backs onto the River Bure and this area of the site is an area of 
ecological value. 

9.66. In order for the Local Planning Authority to discharge its legal duty under the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 when considering a planning 
application where EPS are likely or found to be present at the site or surrounding area, 
Local Planning Authorities must firstly assess whether an offence under the 
Regulations is likely to be committed. If so, the local planning authority should then 
consider whether Natural England would be likely to grant a licence for the 
development. In so doing the authority has to consider whether the development 
meets the three derogation tests listed above. 

9.67. In respect of planning applications and the Council discharging of its legal duties, case 
law has shown that if it is clear/ very likely that Natural England will not grant a licence 
then the Council should refuse planning permission; if it is likely or unclear whether 
Natural England will grant the licence then the Council may grant planning permission. 

9.68. The application is supported by protected species survey results for great crested 
newts and bats (Tyler Grange, September 2023).  It concluded in Paragraph 5.1 that 
no ecological features of significant ecological importance have been identified within 
the Site. Furthermore, the ecology assessment continues by stating in Paragraph 5.2 
that measures outlined in this report to protect locally designated sites, retained 
habitats and mitigation strategies to ensure no impacts to protected and priority 
species are minimised can be controlled via a CTMP (Case Officer: thought to mean 
a CEMP) as a condition of the planning consent. 

9.69. The Council’s Ecology Officer and the Environment Agency were consulted but no 
comments were received.  It is therefore necessary to return to the Inspector’s 
decision on the allowed appeal where he concluded in paragraph 20 that a suite of 
planning conditions will help to secure a suitably holistic, nature-sensitive approach 
to the development. 

9.70. For the above reasons he concluded that the proposal would comply with Policy 
ESD10 of the CLP 2015 and the relevant paragraphs of the NPPF. 

10. PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 

10.1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires planning 
applications to be determined against the provisions of the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF supports this position and adds 
that proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan should be approved 
and those which do not should normally be refused unless outweighed by other 
material considerations. 

10.2. The fallback position of a development allowed at appeal for 38 dwellings which is still 
extant, and which has commenced on site, carries substantial weight.  As such, 

Page 46



 

matters relating to the principle of development, design, impact on the character of 
the area, access, highway impact, residential amenity, sustainable construction and 
ecology have changed little from that allowed at appeal, such that they are considered 
to be acceptable.   

10.3. In the absence of responses to consultation, ecological and flooding / drainage issues 
have to be addressed as per the appeal decision, with a suite of suitable conditions.  
If this position changes pre-Committee, an update will be provided. 

10.4. Although the applicant was able to demonstrate that they had a valid viability 
argument which meant that contributions were not sought in respect of the previously 
approved appeal scheme, this needs to be reviewed given the amendments to the 
proposal, i.e., the three additional units, and changes to the market environment.  
Discussions are ongoing with the applicant in an attempt to resolve this matter. 

10.5. Subject to the resolution of matters relating to the provision of S106 contributions 
towards affordable housing, community hall facilities, indoor and outdoor sport 
provision and public art, and subject to no additional issues being raised by the 
Ecology Officer and the Environment Agency, the application can be supported and 
is recommended for approval. 

11. RECOMMENDATION 

RECOMMENDATION – DELEGATE TO THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR FOR 
PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT TO GRANT PERMISSION, SUBJECT TO THE 
CONDITIONS SET OUT BELOW (AND ANY AMENDMENTS TO THOSE 
CONDITIONS AS DEEMED NECESSARY) AND THE COMPLETION OF A 
PLANNING OBLIGATION UNDER SECTION 106 OF THE TOWN AND 
COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990, AS SUBSTITUTED BY THE PLANNING AND 
COMPENSATION ACT 1991, TO SECURE THE FOLLOWING (AND ANY 
AMENDMENTS AS DEEMED NECESSARY): 

 
a) Provision of 30% affordable housing off site 
b) Payment of a financial contribution towards sports and recreation 
provision in the locality of £139,000 (index linked) 
c) Payment of the Council’s monitoring costs. 

 
FURTHER RECOMMENDATION: THE STATUTORY DETERMINATION PERIOD 
FOR THIS APPLICATION EXPIRES ON 31.01.2024. IF THE SECTION 106 
AGREEMENT/UNDERTAKING IS NOT COMPLETED AND THE PERMISSION IS 
NOT ABLE TO BE ISSUED BY THIS DATE AND NO EXTENSION OF TIME HAS 
BEEN AGREED BETWEEN THE PARTIES, IT IS FURTHER RECOMMENDED 
THAT THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR FOR PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT IS 
GIVEN DELEGATED AUTHORITY TO REFUSE THE APPLICATION FOR THE 
FOLLOWING REASON: 

 
1. In the absence of a satisfactory unilateral undertaking or any other form 

of Section 106 legal agreement the Local Planning Authority is not 
satisfied that the proposed development provides for appropriate 
affordable housing, sport and recreation provision required as a result of 
the development and necessary to make the impacts of the development 
acceptable in planning terms, to the detriment of both existing and 
proposed residents and contrary to Policies INF1, ESD3 and ESD10 of the 
CLP (2015) and the Developer Contributions SPD (Feb 2018). 

 
CONDITIONS  

 

Page 47



 

1. The development to which this permission relates shall be begun not later than 
the expiration of three years beginning with the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved drawings: 10113BS-PA00 Site Location Plan; Site Plan 
10113BS-PA01 Rev J; Ground Floor Plan 10113BS-PA02 Rev E; First Floor 
Plan 10113BS-PA03 Rev E; Second Floor Plan 10113BS-PA04 Rev E; Third 
Floor Plan 10113BS-PA05 Rev F; Roof Plan 10113BS-PA06 Rev F; Elevations 
1, 10113BS-PA07 Rev D; Elevations 2, 10113BS-PA08 Rev E; Elevations 3, 
10113BS-PA09 Rev G JBA 21/035-01 and 20247-10.  

 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt, to ensure that the development is carried 
out only as approved by the Local Planning Authority and comply with 
Government guidance contained within the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
3. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the written scheme of 

investigation and timetable approved by application reference 23/01201/DISC 
dated 27.06.2023.   

 
Reason: To secure the provision of archaeological investigation and the 
subsequent recording of the remains, to comply with Government guidance 
contained within the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
4. Following compliance with the Written Scheme of Investigation referred to in 

condition 3, the staged programme of work, including all processing, research 
and analysis necessary to produce an accessible and useable archive, and a 
full report for publication, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
within two years of the completion of the archaeological fieldwork.  

 
Reason: To secure the provision of archaeological investigation and the 
subsequent recording of the remains, to comply with Government guidance 
contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
5. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, roof-mounted 

solar photovoltaics (PV) shall be installed, in accordance with a scheme which 
shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The solar PV shall be retained thereafter.  

 
Reason: To support the delivery of renewable and low carbon energy in 
accordance with Government guidance contained within the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
6. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, there shall 

have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority 
written confirmation that the development achieves a water efficiency limit of 
110 litres/person/day under Part G of the Building Regulations.  

 
Reason: In the interests of sustainability and to ensure a satisfactory form of 
development, in accordance with Government guidance contained within the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
7. All site clearance (including the removal of any vegetation or works to hedging) 

Page 48



 

should be timed to avoid the bird nesting season during the months of March 
until August inclusive, unless alternative provisions have been previously 
agreed in writing by the local planning authority.  

 
Reason: To ensure that the development will conserve and enhance the natural 
environment and will not cause significant harm to any protected species or its 
habitat in accordance with Government guidance contained within the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
8. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

recommendations set out in the Protected Species Addendum submitted as 
part of application 21/01818/F (Ref: 13819_R02, dated 1 October 2021, 
prepared by Tyler Grange) and the ecological measures in paragraphs 2.1, 2.2, 
2.3, 2.4, 2.5 and 2.6 of the Ecological Technical Note (Ref: 13819_R04b, dated 
1 February 2022, prepared by Tyler Grange), unless otherwise agreed in writing 
by the local planning authority.  

 
Reason: To protect habitats and/or species of importance to nature 
conservation from significant harm in accordance with Policy ESD10 of the 
Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 Part 1 and Government guidance contained 
within the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

9. No development shall commence until there shall have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority a scheme for the provision, 
enhancement and management of a buffer zone alongside the watercourse, 
encompassing all remaining land between the development and the river. The 
buffer zone scheme shall be free from built development including lighting, 
domestic gardens and formal landscaping.  
 
The scheme shall include:  
 

a) plans showing the extent and layout of the buffer zone;  
b) details of habitat creation/ecological enhancements to the river, river 

bank and river corridor adjacent to the site;  
c) details of any proposed planting scheme, using native species of UK 

genetic provenance;  
d) details of proposed footpaths, fencing and exterior lighting on the 

development; and  
e) details demonstrating how the buffer zone will be protected during 

development and managed over the longer term, including adequate 
financial provision and named body responsible for management. 
Measures (a) to (d) will be located, designed and specified to be 
appropriately sensitive to the nature conservation and ecological 
corridor function of the river corridor.  

 
Thereafter, the development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved scheme. Any subsequent variations shall be agreed in writing by the 
local planning authority, in which case the development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the amended scheme.  

 
Reason: To protect habitats and/or species of importance to nature 
conservation from significant harm in accordance with Government guidance 
contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
10. A) No development shall commence until there shall have been submitted to 

and approved in writing by the local planning authority the soft and hard 
landscaping scheme for the site. The landscaping scheme shall include: (i) 

Page 49



 

details of the proposed tree and shrub planting including their species, number, 
sizes and positions, together with grass seeded/turfed areas and written 
specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated with plant 
and grass establishment i.e. depth of topsoil, mulch etc); (ii) seed mixes; (iii) 
details of existing trees and hedgerows to be retained as well as any to be felled, 
including existing and proposed soil levels at the base of each tree/hedgerow 
and the minimum distance between the base of the tree and the nearest edge 
of any excavation; and (iv) details of hard landscaping, including hard surfaced 
areas including pavements, pedestrian areas and steps.  
 
B) Any planting, seeding, turfing and hard landscaping in the part of the site 
within 8m of its southern-western boundary shall be designed and specified to 
blend in sympathetically, both visually and ecologically, with the adjacent 
watercourse buffer zone that is stipulated in condition no 9. Waterbody 1, as 
illustrated on the Tyler Grange drawing Habitat Features within 8m of the River 
Bure, shall be retained and protected on site.  

 
C) The approved landscaping scheme shall be implemented no later than the 
end of the first planting season following completion of the development. The 
scheme shall be maintained for a period of 5 years from the completion of the 
development. Any trees and/or shrubs which within a period of five years from 
the completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously 
damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others 
of similar size and species, unless the local planning authority agrees any 
variation in writing.  

 
Reason: To ensure that a satisfactory landscape scheme is provided in the 
interest of visual amenity of the area and to comply with Policies ESD13 and 
ESD15 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 Part 1, saved Policy C28 of the 
Cherwell Local Plan 1996 and Government guidance contained within the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
11. No development shall commence until there shall have been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the local planning authority a landscape and ecological 
management plan (LEMP) for the site, and the watercourse buffer zone. The 
LEMP shall include long-term design objectives, management responsibilities 
and maintenance schedules for all landscaped areas on the site (except for 
privately owned domestic gardens), and the watercourse buffer zone. 
Thereafter the LEMP shall be carried out as approved, unless otherwise agreed 
in writing by the local planning authority.  

 
Reason: To protect habitats of importance to biodiversity conservation from any 
loss or damage in accordance with Policy ESD10 of the Cherwell Local Plan 
2011-2031 Part 1 and Government guidance contained within the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
12. Notwithstanding the requirement of condition 17, no development shall take 

place until there shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority details of all finished floor levels, in relation to existing 
and proposed site levels and to the adjacent buildings. The floor levels shall be 
implemented as approved during the construction phase of the development.  

 
Reason: In order to safeguard the visual amenities of the area in accordance 
with Policy ESD15 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 Part 1, saved Policy 
C28 of the Cherwell Local Plan 1996 and Government guidance contained 
within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Page 50



 

13.  No development shall commence until there shall have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority a schedule of materials and 
finishes to be used in the external walls and roofing of the building. The relevant 
works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  

 
Reason: To ensure that the materials are appropriate to the appearance of the 
locality and to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the completed 
development in accordance with Policy ESD15 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-
2031 Part 1, saved Policy C28 of the Cherwell Local Plan 1996 and Government 
guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
14.  Prior to the construction of the building above slab level, there shall have been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority details of 
the siting, appearance and colour of any electricity or gas supply meter 
housings to be located on building external elevations. The relevant works shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  

 
Reason: In order to safeguard the visual amenities of the area in accordance 
with Policy ESD15 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 Part 1, saved Policy 
C28 of the Cherwell Local Plan 1996 and Government guidance contained 
within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
15.  No above ground works shall commence until there shall have been submitted 

to and approved in writing by the local planning authority a scheme for the 
provision and implementation of foul and surface water drainage. The drainage 
works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved plans before the 
first occupation of any of the apartments hereby permitted.  

 
Reason: To ensure satisfactory drainage of the site in the interests of achieving 
sustainable development, public health, to avoid flooding of adjacent land and 
property to comply with Policy ESD6 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 Part 
1, saved Policy ENV1 of the Cherwell Local Plan 1996 and Government 
guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
16. The drainage scheme approved under application reference number 

23/00935/DISC dated 23.08.2023 shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details, prior to first use or occupation of the development hereby 
permitted.  

 
Reason: To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated 
into this proposal and to comply with Policy ESD6 and ESD7 of the Cherwell 
Local Plan 2011-2031 Part 1 and Government guidance contained within the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
17. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

submitted flood risk assessment (Version 2.3, dated September 2023, prepared 
by The Civil Engineering Practice), including the following mitigation measures 
that it details: finished floor levels shall be set no lower than 71.75 metres above 
Ordnance Datum (AOD), in accordance with paragraph 7.2.3 in the FRA. These 
mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and 
subsequently in accordance with the scheme’s timing/phasing arrangements. 
The measures detailed above shall be retained and maintained thereafter 
throughout the lifetime of the development.  

 
Reason: To protect the development and its occupants from the increased risk 
of flooding in accordance with Policy ESD6 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-
2031 Part 1 and Government guidance contained within the National Planning 

Page 51



 

Policy Framework. 
 

18. No development shall commence until there shall have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority a scheme to provide level for 
level and volume for volume floodplain storage compensation. This should 
include details of existing and proposed external site levels, together with 
proposed building and car park locations in relation to the existing and proposed 
areas of functional and non-functional flood plain and their interconnectivity to 
the main river. The scheme as approved shall be fully implemented and 
subsequently maintained in accordance with its timing/phasing arrangements, 
or within any other period as may subsequently be agreed in writing by the local 
planning authority.  

 
Reason: To protect the development and its occupants from the increased risk 
of flooding in accordance with Policy ESD6 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-
2031 Part 1 and Government guidance contained within the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
19.  Any walls or fencing constructed within or around the site shall be designed to 

be permeable to flood water.  
 

Reason: To prevent obstruction to the flow of flood water, with a consequent 
increased risk of flooding and to comply with Policy ESD6 of the Cherwell Local 
Plan 2011-2031 Part 1 and Government guidance contained within the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
20. Prior to commencement of any construction or demolition works, there shall 

have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority 
a Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP). The CTMP should follow 
Oxfordshire County Council's template if possible. It should identify: (i) the 
routing of construction vehicles and management of their movement into and 
out of the site by a qualified and certificated banksman; (ii) access 
arrangements and times of movement of construction vehicles (to minimise the 
impact on the surrounding highway network); (iii) details of wheel cleaning 
facilities to prevent mud from migrating onto the adjacent highway; (iv) contact 
details for the Site Supervisor responsible for on-site works; (e) travel initiatives 
for site-related worker vehicles; (f) parking provision for site-related worker 
vehicles; (g) details of times for construction traffic and delivery vehicles, which 
must be outside network peak and school peak hours; (g) engagement with 
local residents.  

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to comply with Policy ESD15 of 
the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 Part 1 and Government guidance contained 
within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
21. No construction work including site clearance and delivery of materials shall be 

carried out except between the hours of 07.30 to 18.00 Monday to Friday, and 
08.00 to 13.00 on Saturdays, and at no times on Sundays, Bank and Public 
Holidays. 

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the amenities of local residents 
and to comply with Policy ESD15 of the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 Part 1 
and Government guidance contained within the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
22. Prior to the commencement of above ground construction works, there shall 

have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority 

Page 52



 

full details of the junction of the proposed vehicle access and the main 
carriageway of St Johns Street. The access and junction shall be completed in 
accordance with the details as approved, prior to occupation of the 
development.  

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to comply with Policy ESD15 of 
the Cherwell Local Plan 2011-2031 Part 1 and Government guidance contained 
within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
23. A Travel Information Pack shall be provided to all new residents of the 

development within 1 month of occupation, for the first 5 years of its operation.  
 

Reason: In the interests of sustainability and to ensure a satisfactory form of 
development, in accordance with Government guidance contained within the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
24. Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted, the proposed vehicle 

and cycle parking shall have been completed and made available for use. The 
vehicle and cycle parking shall be maintained available for that use for the 
duration of the development unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local 
planning authority.  

 
Reason: In the interests of sustainability and to ensure a satisfactory form of 
development, in accordance with Government guidance contained within the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
25.  At no time shall the development hereby permitted be occupied by persons 

other than: (i) a person of aged 60 years or over; (ii) a person aged 55 years or 
older, who is living as part of a single household with the person identified in i) 
who is residing at the development; or iii) a person aged 55 years or older who 
was living as part of a single household with the person identified in i) who was 
residing at the development and has since died. 

 
Reason: In order to ensure that a satisfactory level of parking is available for 
the occupiers in accordance with Policy ESD15 of the Cherwell Local Plan 
2011-2031 Part 1 and Government guidance contained within the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
INFORMATIVES 
 

1. As the site is within 8m of a Main River watercourse a Flood Risk Activity Permit 
will be required from the Environment Agency before any work commences. 

 
2. No ground within Flood Zones 2 or 3 should be raised or obstructed during the 

constructed or completed phases of the development. 
 
3. The attenuated discharge from the development will require a S.23 Land 

Drainage Act consent to be issued by the Environment Agency. 
 

 
CASE OFFICER: Jeanette Davey  

 

Page 53



Cherwell District Council 
 
Planning Committee  
 
11 January 2024 
 

Appeals Progress Report  
 

Report of Assistant Director Planning and Development  
 
 
This report is public. 

 
 

Purpose of report 
 

To keep Members informed about planning appeal progress including decisions received 
and the scheduling of public inquiries and hearings for new and current appeals. 

 

1.0 Recommendations 

              
The meeting is recommended: 
 
1.1 To note the position on planning appeals contained within the report.  
  

2.0 Introduction 

 
2.1 This report provides a monthly update regarding planning appeals, including new 

appeals, status reports on those in progress, and determined appeals.  
 

3.0 Report Details 

 
New appeals  
 

3.1 22/03626/F – Land North of Burycroft Road, Book Norton, Banbury. 
 
 Erection of a single detached dwelling, associated garage, access and new l 

  landscaping.  
 
 Officers Recommendation: Refusal (Delegated) 
 Method of Determination: Hearing (1 Day) 
 Hearing Date 6th February 2024. 
 Application Reference: 22/03626/F 
 Appeal Reference: 23/00106/REF 
 Start Date: 24.11.2023. 
 
3.2 23/01414/F – 1 Benmead Road, Kidlington, Oxon, OX5 2BZ. 

Page 54

Agenda Item 9



 
 RETROSPECTIVE - Replacement of hedge with fence 
  
 Officers Recommendation: Refusal (Delegated) 
 Method of Determination: Written Representative (Householder Fast Track) 
 Application Reference: 23/01414/F 
 Appeal Reference: 23/00105/REF 
 Start Date: 22.11.2023. 
 
3.3 23/01634/F – Ashberry Cottage, Duns Tew, Bicester, OX25 6JS. 
 
 Front porch with associated internal and external works. 
 
 Officers Recommendation: Refusal (Delegated) 

Method of Determination: Written Representation. 
Application Reference: 23/01634/F. 
Appeal Reference: 23/00109/REF 
Start Date: 29.11.2023. 
 

3.4 23/01316/F – Land South of Farady House, Woodway Road, Sibford Ferris, 
OX15 5RF. 

  
 Erection of 5no two storey age restricted dwellings (55 years) for older people with 

access, landscaping and associated infrastructure 
 
 Officers Recommendation: Refusal (Delegated) 
 Method of Determination: Written Representations. 
 Application Reference: 23/01316/F 
 Appeal Reference: 23/00110/REF 
 Start Date: 04.12.2023. 
 
3.5 19/02554/DISC – The Unicorn, 20 Market  Place, OX16 5JL. 
 
 Discharge of Conditions 3 (external materials), 4 (doors/windows/rooflights) and 5 

(external staircase) of 16/01661/F. 
 
 Officers Recommendation: Refusal (Delegated) 
 Method of Determination: Written Representations. 
 Application Reference: 19/02554/DISC 
 Appeal Reference: 23/00011/REF 
 
3.6 22/03719/OUT – Land at Lince Lane, Kirtlington, OXON, OX5 3JY 
 
 Erection of 9 no new Live/ work Units, each with C3 Residential and integral B1 

Office - on former Quarry land/more recently agricultural use site - all matters 
reserved except for access. 

 
 Officers Recommendation: Refusal. (Delegated) 
 Method of Determination: Written Representations. 
 Application Reference: 22/03719/OUT 
 Appeal Reference: 23/00112/REF 
 
3.7 23/01952/F – 1 Elizabeth Rise, Banbury, Oxon, OX16 9LZ. 

Page 55



 
 Single and two storey front extensions, first floor side extension and single and two 

storey rear extensions, removal of chimney on south-west elevation (revised 
scheme of 22/03323/F and 23/01059/F) 

  
 Officers Recommendation: Refusal (Delegated) 
 Method of Determination: Written Representations (HAS) 
 Application Number: 23/01952/F 
 Appeal Reference: 23/00113/REF 
 
3.8 19/02553/DISC – The Unicorn, 20 Market  Place, Banbury, OX16 5LJ. 
  
 Discharge of Conditions 3 (external materials), 4 (doors/windows/rooflights) and 5 

(external staircase) of 16/01661/F. 
  
 Officers Recommendation: Refusal (Delegated) 
 Method of Determination: Written Representations                                      

Application Number: 19/02553/DISC 
 Appeal Reference: 23/00114/REF 
 
 
 New Enforcement Appeals 
 
3.9 23/00001/ENF – Ashberry Cottage, Duns Tew, Bicester, OX25 6JS.  
 

Without the benefit of planning permission, the unauthorised erection of a single-
storey porch, finished with timber cladding, to the principal elevation of a mid-
terrace dwelling attached to a curtilage listed grade II building Owl Barn (Historic 
England reference 1046304) 
 
Officers Recommendation: Enforcement Notice. 
Method of Determination: Written Representation. 
Application Reference: 23/00001/ENF. 
Appeal Reference: 23/00108/ENF. 
Start Date: 28.11.2023.  

 
  

Appeals in Progress 
 
3.10    22/02104/F - Land to The Rear of No.12 And South of Dismantled Railway, 

Heath Close, Milcombe, OX15 4RZ.  
 

Erection of 35 two storey dwelling houses, construction of access off Rye Hill, 
together with garaging, parking, open space with LAP, landscaping and all 
enabling works. 

 
Officers Recommendation: Refusal (Committee) 
Method of Determination: Hearing. (1 Day) 
Hearing Date: 18/10/2023.  
Application Reference: 22/02104/F 
Appeal Reference: 23/00088/REF 
Start Date: 08.08.2023. 

 

Page 56



3.11    21/04289/OUT - OS Parcel 1570 Adjoining and West of Chilgrove Drive And 
Adjoining And North of Camp Road, Heyford Park. 

 
Outline planning application for the erection of up to 230 dwellings, creation of new 
vehicular access from Camp Road and all associated works with all matters 
reserved apart from Access. 

 
Officers Recommendation: Refusal (Committee) 
Method of Determination: Inquiry (5 Day) 
Hearing Date: 05/12/2023. 
Application Reference: 21/04289/OUT 
Appeal Reference: 23/00089/REF 
Start Date: 14.08.2023. 
 

 
3.12   21/00078/ENF – Cherwell Concrete – Bagnalls Haulage Ltd,Bagnalls Coal 

Yard, Station Road, Enslow, Kidlington, OX5 3AX. 
 

Without planning permission, the material change of use of the land to a concrete 
batching plant and the erection of associated apparatus including a conveyor, 
corrugated enclosure, hoppers, and storage tanks. 

 
Officers Recommendation: Enforcement Notice 
Method of Determination: Written Representation 
Start Date: 09.002.2023. 
Appeal Reference Number: 23/00061/ENF 
 

 
3.13    21/00078/ENF – Mr & Mrs Murphy – Bagnalls Haulage Ltd,Bagnalls Coal Yard,  
           Station Road, Enslow, Kidlington, OX5 3AX. 
 

Without planning permission, the material change of use of the land to a concrete 
batching plant and the erection of associated apparatus including a conveyor, 
corrugated enclosure, hoppers and storage tanks. 

 
Officers Recommendation: Enforcement Notice 
Method of Determination: Written Representation 
Start Date: 09.02.2023. 
Appeal Reference Number: 23/00060/ENF 

 
3.14 22/02637/F – Chapel Cottage, Wroxton Lane, Horley, Banbury, OX15 6BD. 
 

Single-storey rear extension, removal of an existing door to create opening and 
removal of the window, and cut down of wall to FFL. (resubmission of 21/02720/F) 
 
Officers Recommendation: Refused (Delegated) 
Method of Determination: Written Representation. 
Start Date: 15.06.2023. 
Appeal Reference: 23/00078/REF  

 
 
3.15    23/00150/CLUE – Unit 22 Beaumont Close, Banbury, Oxon, OX16 1SH. 
 

Page 57



Certificate of Lawfulness for the Existing Development: Implementation of planning 
permission 18/01366/F subsequent to 20/00046/DISC.  Erection of 10 small 
commercial units (B2/B8) with associated car parking and landscaping - 
(resubmission of 22/00193/CLUE) 

 
Officers Recommendation: Refusal (Delegated) 
Method of Determination: Written Representation. 
Start Date: 15.06.2023. 
Appeal Reference: 23/00080/REF 
 

 
3.16 22/02832/TEL56 - Telecommunications Cabinet CWL18723 H3G Network, The  

Hale Chesterton. 
 
Proposed 15.0m Phase 8 Monopole C/W wrapround Cabinet at base and 
associated ancillary works. 

 
Officers Recommendation: Refusal (Delegated) 
Method of Determination: Written Representation. 
Start Date: 22.06.2023. 
Appeals Reference: 23/00085/REF. 

 
  
3.17 22/03741/F – Land Adj to Wise Crescent, Opposite The Laurels, Fringford,  

Oxon, OX27 8DZ. 
 
Erection of 6 one and a half and two storey dwellings, with the construction of new 
access and footpath, together with carports, parking, landscaping and all enabling 
works 

 
Officers Recommendation: Refusal (Delegated) 
Method of determination: Hearing 
Hearing Date: 25.10.2023 
Hearing Venue: Council Chambers, Bodicote House 
Application Reference: 22/03741/F 
Appeal Reference: 23/00087/REF 
Start Date: 11.07.2023. 

 
  
3.18 22/02773/F – 4 Manor Road, Fringford Bicester, OX27 8DH. 

 
First floor extension above existing lounge; extension to rear of existing garage to 
provide utility/workshop space with home-working office above and link to main 
house. New pedestrian access gate to front. PV panels to new south facing roof. 
New external boiler, oil tank and rainwater harvesting tank. 

 
Officers Recommendation: Refusal (Delegated) 
Method of Determination: Householder Appeal (HAS) 
Start Date: 15.06.2023. 
Appeal Reference: 23/00076/REF 
 
 

3.19   23/00662/F - The Pheasant Pluckers Inn, Burdrop, Banbury, OX15 5RQ 

Page 58



 
RETROSPECTIVE - Change of Use of public house (Sui Generis) to hotel/bed and 
breakfast (Class C1) 
 
Officers Recommendations: (Application did not pass Validation) 
Method of Determination: Written Representations 
Appeal against non-determination 
Start Date: 13/09/2023. 
Appeal reference: 23/00092/NON 
 
 

3.20   22/03802/OUT - Part Of OS Parcel 8752 East Of Combe Cottage And South Of 
St Johns Way, Hempton Road, Hempton. 

 
 Outline planning application for the erection of up to 9 dwellings and creation of 

associated vehicular and pedestrian access onto Hempton Road, highway 
improvements, parking, landscaping, drainage features, open space, and 
associated infrastructure, with all matters to be reserved except new vehicular 
access into the site from Hempton Road - all matters reserved except for access. 

 
 Officers Recommendation: Refusal (Delegated) 

 Method of Determination: Hearing (1 Day) 
 Hearing Date: 14/11/2023. 
 Hearing Venue: Council Chambers. 
 Planning Reference: 22/03802/OUT 
 Appeal Reference: 23/00091/REF 
 Start Date: 22/08/2023. 
 
 
3.21   22/02866/OUT – Land East of Ploughley Road, Ambrosden. 
 
 OUTLINE planning application for up to 120 dwellings, vehicular and pedestrian 

access off Ploughley Road, new pedestrian access to West Hawthorn Road, 
surface water drainage, foul water drainage, landscaping, public open space, 
biodiversity and associated infrastructure.  Access off Ploughley Road is not 
reserved for future consideration. 

 
 Officers Recommendation: Refusal (Committee) 
 Method of Determination: Inquiry (5Days) 
  Appeal Reference: 23/00091/REF 
 Start Date: 22/08/2023. 
 
 
3.22 23/0086/FULL – 67 Oxford Road, Banbury, Oxon, OX16 9AJ 
 

Conversion from 10-bed HMO to 12-bed HMO (Sui Generis) (Resubmission of 
23/00120/F) 
 
Confirmation of Valid Appeal by PINS. Awaiting Start Letter. 
 

 
3.23 22/03698/TEL – Area of Grass Verge, Austins Way, Hook Norton. 

 

Page 59



5G telecoms installation: H3G 15m street pole and additional equipment 
cabinets. 
 
Officers Recommendation: Refusal (Delegated) 
Method of Determination: Written Representations. 
Start Date: 20.09.2023. 
Appeal Reference: 23/00094/REF 
 
 

3.24    23/000176/F – 1 School Paddock, Bucknell, OX27 7LR.  
 
 Variation of Condition 2 (plans) of 21/03977/F - minor alteration to position of the 

garage, small increase in width, modest increase in ridge height. 
 
 Officers Recommendation: Refusal (Delegated) 
 Method of Determination: Written Representation. 

Start Date: 21.09.2023. 
Appeal Reference: 23/00095/REF 
 

 
3.25 23/00065/OUT – Land North of Ells Lane, Bloxham, Banbury, Oxon. 
 

Outline planning permission for up to 30 dwellings including access off Ells Lane 
and demolition of the existing stabling on site - All Matters Reserved except for 
access. 
 
Officers Recommendation: Refusal (Committee) 
Method of Determination: 1 Day Hearing. 
Start Date: 02.10.2023. 
Appeal Reference: 23/00097/REF 
 
 

3.26 23/00797/ADV – Land on South West Side of Gatteridge Street, Banbury, OX16 
5DH. 

 
 Erection of 1no internally illuminated freestanding digital advertisement display. 
 
 Officers Recommendation: Refusal (Delegated) 
 Method of Determination: Written Representation (CAS) 
 Start Date: 25.10.2023. 
 Appeal Reference: 23/00099/REF. 
 
 
3.27 22/03445/F – The Bungalow, 2 Queen Street, Bloxham, Banbury, OX15 4QQ. 
 
 Single storey reduced level extension to existing bungalow, with associated 

landscaping. 
 
 Officers Recommendation: Refused (Committee) 
 Method of Determination: Written Representations (HAS) 
 Start Date: 27.10.2023.  
 Appeal Reference: 23/00100/REF. 
  

Page 60



  
 3.28 22/02551/F – 15 Farmfield Road, Banbury, Oxon, OX16 9AP. 
  

Demolition of 2 garages and replacement with 2 x 2-bedroom semi-detached 
dwellings, with access off Beechfield Crescent. 
 
Officers Recommendation: Refused (Delegated) 
Method of Determination: Written Representations. 
Start Date 31.10.2023. 
Appeal Reference: 23/0010/REF. 
 
 

3.29 21/03522/OUT - Os Parcel 3673 Adjoining And West Of 161 Rutten Lane, 
Yarnton, OX5 1LT. 

 
 The erection of up to 540 dwellings (Class C3), up to 9,000sqm GEA of 

elderly/extra care residential floorspace (Class C2), a Community Home Work Hub 
(up to 200sqm)(Class E), alongside the creation of two locally equipped areas for 
play, one NEAP, up to 1.8 hectares of playing pitches and amenity space for the 
William Fletcher Primary School, two vehicular access points, green infrastructure, 
areas of public open space, two community woodland areas, a local nature reserve, 
footpaths, tree planting, restoration of historic hedgerow, and associated works. 

 
All matters are reserved, save for the principal access points. 
 
Officers Recommendation: Refusal (Committee) 
Method of Determination: Public Inquiry. 
Start Date: 01.11.2023. 
Appeal Reference: 23/00102/REF. 
 
 

3.30 23/00173/OUT – Land South of Green Lane, Chesterton, OX26 1DF. 
 
 Outline planning application for up to 147 homes, public open space, flexible 

recreational playing field area and sports pitches with associated car parking, 
alongside landscaping, ecological enhancements, SuDs, green/blue and hard 
infrastructure, with vehicular and pedestrian/cycle accesses, and all associated 
works (all matters reserved except for means of access) 

 
 Officers Recommendation: Refusal (Committee) 
 Method of Determination: Public Inquiry. 
 Start Date: 02.11.2023. 
 Appeal Reference Number: 23/00103/REF 
 
 
3.31 21/00333/ENF – Fairway Cottage, Main Road, Swalcliffe, Banbury, Oxon, OX15 

5HB. 
 
 Without planning permission, the construction of a timber outbuilding and 

associated engineering operations, including the raising of land levels and the 
construction of a retaining wall, as shown edged in blue on the attached plan titled 
‘Location Plan’. 

 

Page 61



 Officers Recommendation: Enforcement Notice. 
 Method of Determination: Written Representation. 
 Start Date: 10.11.2023. 
 Appeal Reference: 23/000104/ENF 
 

 
Forthcoming Public Inquiries and Hearings between 7 December 2023 and   
11 January 2024.   
    
 

   3.32     21/04289/OUT - OS Parcel 1570 Adjoining and West of Chilgrove Drive And 
Adjoining And North of Camp Road, Heyford Park. 

 
Outline planning application for the erection of up to 230 dwellings, creation of new 
vehicular access from Camp Road and all associated works with all matters 
reserved apart from Access. 

 
Officers Recommendation: Refusal (Committee) 
Method of Determination: Inquiry (8 Days) 
Hearing Date: 05/12/2023. 
Application Reference: 21/04289/OUT 
Appeal Reference: 23/00089/REF 
Start Date: 14.08.2023. 
Venue: Council Chambers. 
 
 

 Appeal Results  
 

3.33     The Inspector dismissed the appeal by Mr Dai David for the erection of a 
ground floor extension to the rear with a green roof and roof light to facilitate 
an open-plan kitchen/dining area at Attock House, Church Lane, Horton-Cum-
Studley, Oxfordshire OX33 1AW. 

 
Method of determination: Written representation  

 
Appeal Reference:  APP/C3105/D/23/3315829 
Original Planning Reference: 22/02969/F 

 
The Inspector identified the main issues as: 

 Whether the proposal would be inappropriate development in the Green Belt 

 If the proposal would be inappropriate development, whether the harm would be 
outweighed by other considerations so as to amount to very special 
circumstance necessary to justify it 
 

The Inspector agreed that the cumulative effect of the appeal proposal, plus the 
previously built extensions to the original building, would take the new floorspace to 
about 87% of the original floor area, and they considered that this, together with the 
inevitable increase in volume that would create, would be clearly disproportionate to 
the original building and would result in inappropriate development in the Green 
Belt, which would reduce the spatial openness of the Green Belt. 
They did however consider that since the extension would be largely screened from 
view, the proposal would result in only moderate harm to the openness of the Green 
Belt. 

Page 62



 
They noted that the appellant gave a fallback position of a permitted development 
extension which could be carried out but stated that since the appellant could erect 
this fallback position as well as the extension under consideration, they did not 
consider this fallback position to have much weight. 
 
They concluded that the proposal would comprise inappropriate development in the 
Green Belt which would result in moderate harm to the openness of the Green Belt 
contrary to Policy ESD14 of the LP and the Green Belt provisions of the current 
Framework and dismissed the Appeal. 

 
 

3.34 22/00043/ENF – Dismissed the appeal by Mr Gabriele Di Genova against the 
enforcement notice served on “Land rear of the Post Office on Merton Road, 
adjoining 2 Chapel Drive, Ambrosden, OX25 2RS” for the failure to comply 
with condition 8 imposed on planning permission ref. 01/00694/OUT granted 
on 30 August 2001. 

 
Method of determination: Written Representations  
Appeal reference: 22/00043/ENF 
 
The enforcement notice relates to the obstruction of a parking and manoeuvring 
area associated with the Ambrosden post office in contravention of condition 8 of 
planning permission ref. 01/00694/OUT. 
 
The notice requires several actions to remedy the breach, including ceasing the use 
of the land as a garden, removing close boarded fencing, removing domestic 
paraphernalia and reinstating the land to its former condition as a car park. 
The time period given with which to comply was 3 months. 
 
The appeal was submitted on ground (d) of section 174(2) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended: “that, at the date when the notice was issued, no 
enforcement action could be taken in respect of any breach of planning control 
which may be constituted by those matters”.   
 
The appellant argued that the planning condition was never discharged, resulting in 
a breach of condition 8 occurring continuously since 2005, rendering the breach 
immune under the “ten-year rule”.  It was further argued that the car park 
obstruction was continuous through 2012-2022, again rendering the breach immune 
under the “ten-year rule”.   
 
The inspector concluded that condition was discharged in 2002 under a reserved 
matters planning application, refuting the appellant’s first argument.  The inspector 
also found that the appellant’s evidence was not sufficiently precise and 
unambiguous to demonstrate, on the balance of probabilities, that a breach of the 
condition occurred continuously between 2012-2022. 
 
The Inspector found a breach of planning control and upheld the enforcement 
notice, save for a minor variation to the location wording.     

 
 

3.35 The Inspector dismissed the appeal by Mr J McAdam to remove the rear 
conservatory, outbuilding and concrete garage, timber shed and greenhouses 

Page 63



and Construct new two storey side and rear extension, with lean-to single 
storey infill to rear at 12 Mill Close, Charlton On Otmoor, Kidlington OX5 2UE 
Method of determination: Written representation  

 
Appeal Reference:   APP/C3105/D/23/3323654 
Council Reference: 23/00676/F 
 
The Inspector identified the main issues as: 

 Whether the proposal would be inappropriate development in the Green Belt 

 The impact of the development on the openness of the Green Belt 

 If the proposal would be inappropriate development, whether the harm would be 
outweighed by other considerations so as to amount to very special 
circumstance necessary to justify it. 

 
The Inspector noted that the Council considers extensions of greater than 50% of 
the original floor area to be disproportionate, but noted that that this 50% rule is not 
within the Local Plan.  
 
However, they noted that regardless of the numerical values, the scheme would 
result in a significantly larger dwelling than the original. Furthermore, the addition of 
a two-storey extension to the side and rear of the property would substantially 
increase the bulk and massing of the building and would result in a dwelling which 
was disproportionate in size compared to the original building. 
 
This increase in bulk and volume was considered to affect the openness of the 
Green Belt, as was the visibility from the street. 
 
In terms of very special circumstances, they considered that there was no 
compelling evidence (such as an approved Certificate of Lawfulness for the work) 
that the fallback position afforded by Permitted Development rights would be 
implemented. 
 
Nor did they give great weight to the argument that the proposal would improve 
visual amenity by removing existing unsympathetic buildings. 
 
They stated that the proposal conflicted with the development plan and the 
Framework, and there were no other material considerations identified that 
outweighed this finding and dismissed the Appeal. 
 

4.0 Conclusion and Reasons for Recommendations 

 
4.1 The report provides the current position on planning appeals which Members are 

invited to note. 
 

5.0 Consultation 

 None.  
 

6.0 Alternative Options and Reasons for Rejection 

 

Page 64



6.1 None. This report is submitted for information.  
 

7.0 Implications 

 
 Financial and Resource Implications  
 
7.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. The report is for 

information only. The cost of defending appeals is met from existing budgets other 
than in extraordinary circumstances. 

 
Significant levels of appeals have now been submitted against the Council that 
means the budget provision for the 2023/24 is forecast to be exceeded by £313k.   
 
This is being mitigated by an allocation from the Appeals Reserve of £209k (subject 
to approval from the Executive).  The balance of £104k will need to be addressed 
by identifying underspends across the Council.   
 
Any further appeals submitted against the Council will result in further mitigations 
needing to be identified to meet these additional costs. 

 
 Comments checked by: 

Kimberley Digweed, Service Accountant 
kimberley.digweed@cherwell-dc.gov.uk  

Legal Implications  
 
7.2 As this report is purely for information there are no legal implications arising from it. 
 

Comments checked by: 
Shahin Ismail, Interim Monitoring Officer,  
shahin.ismail@cherwell-dc.gov.uk 
 
Risk Implications  
  

7.3 This is an information report where no recommended action is proposed. As such 
there are no risks arising from accepting the recommendation. Any arising risk will 
be manged through the service operational risk and escalated to the Leadership 
Risk Register as and when necessary. 

Comments checked by: 
Celia Prado-Teeling, Performance & Insight Team Leader, 01295 221556 
Celia.Prado-Teeling@Cherwell-dc.gov.uk  

 
Equalities and Inclusion Implications 

 
7.4  This is an information report where no recommended action is proposed. As such 

there are no equality implications arising from accepting the recommendation. 

Comments checked by: 
Celia Prado-Teeling, Performance & Insight Team Leader, 01295 221556 
Celia.Prado-Teeling@Cherwell-dc.gov.uk  
  

Page 65

mailto:kimberley.digweed@cherwell-dc.gov.uk
mailto:shahin.ismail@cherwell-dc.gov.uk
mailto:Celia.Prado-Teeling@Cherwell-dc.gov.uk
mailto:Celia.Prado-Teeling@Cherwell-dc.gov.uk


8.0 Decision Information 

 
Key Decision  
 

Financial Threshold Met:   N/A 

 
 Community Impact Threshold Met: N/A 
 

Wards Affected 
 

Various, depending on appeal.  
 

Links to Corporate Plan and Policy Framework 
 

N/A 
  

Lead Councillor 
 

Councillor Daniel Sames, Portfolio Holder for Planning  
 

Document Information 

 Appendix number and title 
 None 

 Background papers 
 None 
 

 Report Author and contact details 
Sarah Gevaux, Appeals Administrator, sarah.gevaux@cherwell-DC.gov.uk 
Paul Seckington, Development Management paul.seckington@cherwell-gov.uk  

 

Page 66

mailto:sarah.gevaux@cherwell-DC.gov.uk
mailto:paul.seckington@cherwell-gov.uk

	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	 Planning Applications
	8 Former Pakefield House to Fortescue House, St. John's Street, Bicester, OX26 6SL
	23-01771-F- Site Plan 1
	23-01771-F- Site Plan 2
	23-01771-F - Committee Report

	9 Appeals Progress Report

